UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Modulation of neutrophil inflammatory responses by iron oxide nanoparticles, DAMPs, and cytokines in health and psoriatic disease

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/82j8v30j

Author Garcia, Gustavo

Publication Date

2023

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Modulation of neutrophil inflammatory responses by iron oxide nanoparticles, DAMPs, and cytokines in health and psoriatic disease

By

GUSTAVO GARCIA DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Biomedical Engineering

in the

OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

DAVIS

Approved:

Scott I. Simon, Chair

Sean R. Collins

Samuel T. Hwang

Sanjeevi Sivasankar

Committee in Charge

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank Dr. Scott Simon for his mentorship. I appreciate the time and effort he has spent helping to guide me on this scientific journey. I would also like to thank Dr. Samuel Hwang for helping in the realization of the psoriasis project and for serving on my thesis committee. I would also like to thank Dr. Sanjeevi Sivasankar and Dr. Sean Collins for serving on my committee and participating in many fruitful discussions. The many current and former members of the Simon lab- Vasilios Morikis, Alfredo Hernandez, Alex Vargas, Julianna Madigan, Sharon Chen, Lisette Werba, Evan Cirves, and Megan Westerland, have helped me complete this long journey of graduate school and I give them immense thanks. I would like to thank my friends and neighbors in the Lewis lab – Allen Tu, Noah Pacifici, and Rian Harriman for their support. A special thanks to all the generous blood donors who made this research possible. Finally, I want to thank my friends and family who have supported me throughout my life, I owe my success in large part to you all.

Table of Contents

Acknow	wledgements	ii
Table o	of Contents	iii
List of a	figures:	v
List of	Abbreviations:	vi
Abstra	net	viii
Chapte	er 1 Background and significance	1
1.1	1 Neutrophil recruitment cascade	1
1.2	2 β2-integrin structure and affinity regulation	2
1.3	β2-integrin mechanosignaing of calcium flux and ROS	8
1.4	4 Neutrophil priming in acute and chronic inflammation	12
1.5	5 Role of DAMPS and cytokines in neutrophil priming:	15
1.6	6 Dissertation objectives	19
Chapte Iron Ox	er 2 Neutrophil Inflammatory Response Is Downregulated by Uptake of Superparame exide Nanoparticle Therapeutics	agnetic 21
2.1	1 Introduction	21
2.2	2 Materials and Methods	24
	2.21Small molecules, antibodies, and other reagents	24
	2.22 Human Neutrophil Isolation	25
	2.23 Flow cytometry detection of cell surface marker expression	25
	2.24 Microfluidic shear flow assay	26
	2.25 L-selectin and PSGL-1 clustering	27
	2.26 Measurement of reactive oxygen species	27
	2.27 Measurement of calcium flux	28
2.3	3 Feraheme inhibits neutrophil activation and degranulation stimulated by IL-8	
2.4	4 Feraheme inhibits the activation of ROS production in neutrophils.	34
2.5 Fe	5 Neutrophil recruitment on endothelial adhesion molecules is altered in the presence eraheme.	of 36
2.6	6 Feraheme perturbs the process of E-selectin ligand clustering on rolling neutrophils	s . 39
2.7	7 Feraheme accelerates clearance of cytosolic calcium after flux	41
2.8	8 Discussion	45

Chapter 3: Psoriatic Neutrophils are Primed in Circulation for Enhanced β ₂ -integrin Dependent Recruitment and Effector Function on E-selectin and ICAM-1			
3.1 Introduction	51		
3.2 Materials and methods			
3.21 Reagents			
3.22 Patient demographics			
3.23 Human neutrophil isolation			
3.24 Flow Cytometry Detection of Cell Surface Marker Expression			
3.25 Elisa			
3.26 Calprotectin (S100A8/A9) secretion			
3.27 Glass coverslip functionalization			
3.28 Microfluidic Shear Flow Assay	55		
3.29 Cytosolic Ca ²⁺ flux	55		
3.210 Reactive oxidant production	56		
3.211 Statistical analysis	56		
3.3 Psoriatic neutrophils are primed in circulation.	57		
3.4 Damp and cytokine biomarkers of neutrophil priming and activation	59		
3.5 Psoriatic neutrophils are sensitized to TNF-α but not IL-8	62		
3.6 Elevated neutrophil S100A8/A9 secretion in psoriasis	63		
3.7 Amplified neutrophil arrest efficiency in psoriasis	65		
3.8 Psoriatic neutrophils are primed for mechanosignaling of Ca ²⁺ flux and Ros	production 67		
3.9 Discussion	69		
Chapter 4 Summary and future directions	70		
4.1: Future directions for elucidating the mechanism of Feraheme inhibition of 1 inflammatory responses	neutrophil 71		
References			

List of figures:

Figure 1.1: β2-integrin structure and affinity states
Figure 2.1: Effect of Feraheme concentration on integrin and selectin expression following chemotactic stimulation of neutrophils
Figure 2.2: Feraheme alters adhesion receptor expression over a dose range in stimulation with IL-8
Figure 2.3: Feraheme does not inhibit antibody recognition of adhesion receptors
Figure 2.4: Feraheme alters CXCR expression in neutrophils
Figure 2.5: Feraheme inhibits ROS production in fMLP stimulated neutrophils
Figure 2.6: Feraheme alters the kinetics of neutrophil rolling and arrest in microfluidic flow channels
Figure 2.7: Feraheme antagonism of E-selectin ligand bond formation
Figure 2.8: Feraheme MNP (4 mg/ml) accelerates clearance of cytosolic calcium following IL-8 stimulated calcium flux
Figure 2.9: Feraheme MNP (4 mg/ml) accelerated clearance of IL-8 stimulated cytosolic Ca ²⁺ is independent of the Adenosine A2A receptor
Figure 2.10: Schematic depicting the proposed mechanism of Ca^{2+} sequestration and inhibition of downstream response by Feraheme
Figure 3.1: Psoriatic neutrophils displayed a primed phenotype with modified adhesion marker expression
Figure 3.2: β2 integrins are activated in psoriasis
Figure 3.3: Plasma levels of DAMPs and cytokines correlate with integrin activation in psoriatic neutrophils
Figure 3.4: Psoriatic neutrophils are primed for increased sensitivity to TNF-α stimulation but not IL-8 stimulation
Figure 3.5: S100A8/A9 secretion is elevated in Ps neutrophils and primes TNF-α stimulated integrin activation
Figure 3.6: Psoriatic neutrophils recruit more efficiently than healthy neutrophils
Figure 3.7: Psoriatic neutrophils are primed for mechanosignaling of Ca ²⁺ flux and ROS production
Figure 3.8 Psoriatic neutrophil priming schematic

List of Abbreviations:

ADAP - Adhesion and Degranulation-Promoting Adapter Protein

ARDS - Acute respiratory distress syndrome

Btk – Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase

CalDAG-GEFI - Calcium and Diacylglycerol-Regulated Guanine Nucleotide Exchange Factor I

CR3 - Complement Receptor 3

CRAC - Calcium Release Activated Calcium

DAG - Diacylglycerol

DAMP - Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern

EGF - Epidermal Growth Factor

ELISA - Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

ER - Endoplasmic Reticulum

ERK - Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase

FERM - 4.1/ezrin/radixin/moesin

GPCRs - G-Protein Coupled Receptors

GM-CSF - Granulocyte-macrophage Colony-stimulating Factor

GTPase - Guanosine Triphosphatase

IL - Interleukin

ILK - Integrin-Linked Kinase

IP3 - Inositol-1,4,5 Triphosphate

IP3R - IP3 Receptor

LFA-1 - Lymphocyte Function-Associated Antigen-1

Mac-1 - Macrophage-1 Antigen

MIDAS - Metal-Ion Dependent Adhesion Site

MRP8/14 - Myeloid-Related Protein 8/14

NADPH - Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate

NETosis - Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation

PBS- Phosphate-buffered saline

PH - Pleckstrin Homology

PI3K - Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase

PIP2 - Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-Bisphosphate

PIP3 - Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-Trisphosphate

PKCα - Protein Kinase C Alpha

PSGL-1 - P-selectin Glycoprotein Ligand-1

PSI - Plexin-Semaphorin-Integrin

RA - Rheumatoid Arthritis

RAGE - Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products

RIAM - Rap1-Interacting Adapter Molecule

ROS - Reactive Oxygen Species

SLex - Sialyl Lewis x

STIM1 - Stromal Interaction Molecule 1

SYK - Spleen Tyrosine Kinase

TGT - Tension Gauged Tethers

TLR4 - Toll-Like Receptor 4

TNF - Tumor Necrosis Factor

VCAM-1 - Vascular Cell Adhesion Protein 1 **SPION** - Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles

MNP - Magnetic nanoparticles

Modulation of neutrophil inflammatory responses by iron oxide nanoparticles, DAMPs, and cytokines in health and psoriatic disease

Abstract

Neutrophils are vital for elimination of foreign particulates and pathogens, but their inappropriate activation in circulation can lead to tissue damage upon recruitment to sites of inflammation. Thus, neutrophil activation and recruitment is tightly regulated by the synergy between mechanical forces acting on neutrophil adhesion receptors and chemotactic stimulation mediated by inflammatory mediators. However, the synergy between outside-in signaling through selectins and integrins and inside-out signaling via G-protein coupled and Tumor necrosis factor receptors can be altered by foreign materials and chronic exposure to endogenous molecules that signal inflammatory responses such as Toll-like receptors during disease. In this thesis we explored how iron oxide nanoparticles and damage associated molecular patterns DAMPs alter the neutrophil's inflammatory response to chemokines and cytokines in freshly obtained blood samples from healthy individuals and patients with psoriasis.

Intravenous delivery of nanoparticles is increasingly being employed for diagnostics and therapeutics. Feraheme is an FDA approved intravenous delivered iron oxide nanoparticle for the treatment of iron deficiency anemia (IDA) in adult patients with chronic kidney failure, but research on its effect on the innate immune response of neutrophils during inflammation has not been reported.

Increasing interest in use of Feraheme for novel imaging techniques and therapeutics motivates the first objective of this dissertation; to study the immunomodulatory effects of Feraheme on neutrophil adhesive capacity and responses to GPCR agonists and function. In contrast to foreign nanoparticles, DAMPS and cytokines are produced endogenously to regulate inflammatory responses of immune cells, however during chronic inflammation continuous exposure to inflammatory stimuli can lead to aberrant neutrophil function. Psoriasis is a systemic inflammatory disease that is characterized by exuberant neutrophil recruitment into skin plaques where neutrophils are primed for production of ROS and release of extracellular traps that exacerbate inflammation. Here we explored the role of neutrophil activating cytokines IL-8 and TNF- α as well as DAMPs S100A8/A9 and LL37, known to be upregulated in psoriasis, to prime circulating neutrophils for enhanced β 2-integrin-mediated recruitment and effector functions.

Exposure to the foreign iron oxide nanoparticles Feraheme had no effect on baseline levels of neutrophil adhesion marker expression, indicating no priming or activation. However, Feraheme treatment reduced neutrophil response to IL-8 mediated upregulation of membrane CD11b/CD18 receptors, activation of high affinity CD18, and shedding of CD62L. Feraheme uptake by neutrophils also inhibited N-formyl-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP) induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. Preincubation of neutrophils with Feraheme greatly reduced capacity capture efficiency on a substrate presenting E-selectin and ICAM-1 in vascular mimetic flow channels. Lastly, Feraheme modulated calcium flux dynamics in neutrophils with accelerated clearance of cytosolic calcium following IL-8 induced flux. Ca²⁺ is a vital signaling molecule downstream of chemotactic signaling and integrin mechanosignaling. Thus, we conclude that inducing rapid sequestration of calcium is a likely mechanism by which Feraheme uptake inhibits neutrophil chemotactic activation and recruitment efficiency.

ix

Psoriatic neutrophils in blood display a primed phenotype characterized by elevated β 2-integrin receptor number and binding affinity that correlated with plasma calprotectin levels. Psoriatic neutrophils were exquisitely sensitive to ex vivo stimulation with TNF- α that elicited secretion of calprotectin and synergistically amplified CD18 activation. In accordance with increased β 2integrin activation, psoriatic neutrophils arrest on E-selectin and ICAM-1 twice as efficiently and had greater capacity for calcium flux and production of ROS than healthy neutrophils.

These studies highlight the contrasting effects that foreign and innate stimuli can have on modulating neutrophil responsiveness. We report that the Feraheme iron oxide nanoparticles limit neutrophil recruitment and inhibit inflammatory responses to GPCR simulation by accelerating clearance of calcium after stimuli induced flux. In contrast, psoriatic neutrophils were primed for increased adhesion and effector function that correlated with circulating levels of DAMPs and cytokines, particularly S100A8/A9 which is secreted more readily in response to TNF- α by psoriasis neutrophils compared to healthy control.

Chapter 1 Background and significance

1.1 Neutrophil recruitment cascade

Neutrophils are vital first responders from blood into sites of inflammation, but unbridled infiltration results in tissue damage and chronic inflammation. Thus, neutrophil vascular recruitment is tightly orchestrated by a multistep cascade incorporating mechanotransduced signals from adhesion receptors and chemical signals from inflammatory cytokines, pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPS) (Kolaczkowska & Kubes, 2013; McDonald et al., 2010). Recruitment begins with neutrophil tethering to endothelial cells (EC) mediated by a family of carbohydrate-binding proteins known as selectins. The selectin family is comprised of the EC expressed E-selectin (CD62E), the leukocyte expressed L-selectin (CD62L) and the platelet and endothelial cell expressed Pselectin (CD62P) (Bevilacqua et al., 1991). Selectins adhere through recognition of the branched tetrasaccharide Sialyl Lewis x (SLex) which decorates selectins and their ligands (Cappenberg et al., 2022). Upon signs of inflammation, ECs rapidly express luminal E-selectin and P-selectin which bind to constitutively expressed neutrophil L-selectin and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1), respectively, to initiate the process of neutrophil tethering under hydrodynamic shear flow.

These selectins form transient bonds whose association and dissociation under shear flow results in leukocyte rolling. Shear force applied on selectins opposing the flow of blood promotes the formation of selectin clusters on the cell membrane (Morikis et al., 2020). Mechanotransduction through selectin clusters combined with chemokines presented by ECs synergistically activate a signaling cascade that modulates the affinity of the neutrophil integrin, Lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1). Activation and clustering of LFA-1

promotes bond formation with intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 which decelerates neutrophils and subsequently mediates a transition from rolling to shear-resistant arrest (Lum et al., 2002; Yago et al., 2018). Chemotactic signaling synergizes with mechanotransduced integrin bond tension at sites of focal adhesion to activate a flux in cytosolic calcium that acts as a secondary messenger to drive F-actin-mediated neutrophil shape change and cell migration (Dixit et al., 2011). Finally, activated β 2 integrin, Macrophage-1 antigen (Mac-1), promotes crawling along the endothelium towards gap junctions where neutrophils transmigrate out into sites of inflammation.

1.2 β2-integrin structure and affinity regulation

Integrins are comprised of a superfamily of heterodimeric proteins consisting of two noncovalently linked transmembrane α and β chains that promote adhesion and signal transduction. In mammals, there are 24 functionally distinct integrins formed by combinations of 18 α and 8 β subunits. The β 2-integrins are a family of four adhesion receptors exclusively expressed in leukocytes made by pairing of the β 2-chain (CD18) with one of four different α -chains (α L, α M, α X, and α D) (Bednarczyk et al., 2020). The β 2-integrins are the most common integrin expressed by leukocytes and each of the four heterodimers exhibits unique and overlapping ligand binding and functional properties (Arnaout, 1990). The first β 2-integrin to be discovered was LFA-1 which is composed of α L/ β 2 (CD11a/CD18) heterodimers. LFA-1 binds to ICAM-1 through ICAM-5 as well as Junctional adhesion molecule -A (JAM-A) (Humphries et al., 2006). Mac-1, also known as complement receptor (CR3), consists of α M/ β 2 (CD11b/CD18) and binds to a wide variety of ligands including ICAMs, complement fragment iC3b, and several extracellular matrix proteins (Arnaout, 2016). α X β 2 also known as CD11c/CD18, p150.95 or CR4 has similar homologies to Mac-1 and binds ICAM-1, ICAM-4, iC3b, vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (VCAM-1), and several extracellular matrix components. The most recently discovered β 2integrin α D β 2 (CD11d/CD18) also has very similar homologies to Mac-1 and binds ICAM-3, VCAM-1, and several extracellular matrix components.

The extracellular domain (ectodomain) of α -chains consists of a seven-blade β -propeller domain, an Ig-domain-like thigh domain, two calf domains, and a ligand binding inserted (I) domain that is inserted between the second and third blades of the β -propeller (Uotila et al., 2023).The I domain contains a metal-ion dependent adhesion site (MIDAS) domain that is modulated by divalent cations Mg²⁺, Mn²⁺, and Ca²⁺ (Lee et al., 1995). The ectodomain of the β subunit comprises seven domains with complex domain insertions: a β I domain that is homologous to the α I domain with insertion in the hybrid domain, a plexin-semaphorin-integrin (PSI) domain, four cysteine-rich epidermal growth factor (EGF) modules, and a beta-tail domain (β TD) domain (Kadry & Calderwood, 2020) (Figure 1.1).

In quiescent neutrophils, b2-integrins adopt a bent conformation with the helical α and β transmembrane domains associated non-covalently and the ligand binding I domain in a sequestered state resulting in low affinity for cognate ligands (Kim et al., 2011). During neutrophil rolling on E-selectin neutrophil L-selectin and PSGL-1 signal extension (E+) of the integrin ectodomain. However, the MIDAS domain remains obstructed resulting in an intermediate affinity for ligands which mediates slow rolling (Zhou et al., 2021). Subsequent signaling through selectin bonds and or chemokines is necessary to reveal the ligand binding MIDAS domain (H+). Both integrin extension and MIDAS exposure is required to achieve the fully competent high affinity ligand binding state (E+H+) which mediates firm arrest and subsequently signals calcium and downstream effector function (Schaff et al., 2008). In addition to the classical bent-closed (E-H-) conformation, extended-closed conformation (E+H-), and

extended-open conformation (E+H+), recent reports described a bent-open conformation (E-H+) that binds to ICAM-1 expressed on the neutrophil surface in cis rather than binding to ICAM-1 on an opposing cell in trans (Fan et al., 2016). The authors postulate that this conformation may limit recruitment as blocking neutrophil ICAM-1 and inhibiting this state led to increased recruitment. Activation to the E+H+ was reported to happen just as frequently from the E+H-, as the E-H+ conformation contradicting previous models of integrin activation that propose integrins transition from E-H- to E+H- and finally E+H+. The physiological relevance of the extended state remains unclear, and most studies have only focused on samples from healthy donors. In this thesis we explore the use of the extended state of cd18 as marker for inflammation in chronic disease.

Endothelium



Figure 1.1: β2-integrin structure and affinity states. The bent-closed (E-H-) conformation has low affinity for ICAM-1 binding. The bent-open conformation (E-H+) binds to ICAM-1 expressed on the neutrophil surface in cis. The extended-closed conformation (E+H-) can bind to

ICAM-1 in trans with an intermediate affinity. The extended-open conformation (E+H+) binds to ICAM-1 in trans with high affinity and mediates firm arrest. Created with BioRender.com.

Shifts in integrin conformation are regulated by intracellular signaling cascades that promote recruitment and binding of the two cytosolic adaptors talin-1 and kindlin-3 to the β 2-integrin tail (Wen et al., 2022). These two adaptor proteins contain 4.1/ezrin/radixin/moesin (FERM) domains with four subdomains (F0–3) (Moser et al., 2009). The F3 domains of talin-1 and kindlin-3 bind to two specific NPxF/Y domains on the β 2-integrin cytoplasmic tails, with talin-1 binding the membrane proximal and kindlin-3 binding the membrane distal NPxF/Y domain (Calderwood et al., 2002; Moser et al., 2009). Knockout experiments in neutrophil-like HL-60 cells demonstrated that talin-1 is necessary for both extension and high affinity activation of β 2-integrin, while kindlin-3 is only required for high affinity activation (Ye & Petrich, 2011).

Binding of talin-1 promotes the E+ conformation by inducing changes in the angle of the β2 transmembrane domain resulting in extension of the ectodomain (Sun et al., 2019). At baseline, talin-1 resides in the cytosol in an autoinhibited state with the C-terminal rod domain interacting with the FERM domain in the N-terminal head restraining talin-1 in a closed conformation (Goksoy et al., 2008). Talin-1 unfolding is regulated by two mechanisms involving activation of the small GTPase Rap1 (Wen et al., 2022). One mechanism, critical for integrin activation in leukocytes, involves formation of a complex between Rap1, Rap1-interacting adapter molecule (RIAM), and talin-1 (Lagarrigue et al., 2016). This process necessitates Src-dependent phosphorylation to disrupt an intermolecular interaction which conceals the binding site for the cell membrane protein phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) contained within the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain of RIAM. Unveiling of this binding site promotes plasma membrane association and subsequent integrin activation (Yang et al., 2014). The second

mechanism entails a direct interaction between RAP-1 and talin-1, which leads to membrane association and integrin activation (Gingras et al., 2019). This latter pathway represents a universal activation mechanism present in all integrin classes and cell types and serves as the exclusive pathway for integrin activation in platelets (Lagarrigue et al., 2020). Mouse knockout studies reveal that while Rap1–RIAM–talin-1 is the dominant pathway, both pathways contribute to efficient neutrophil integrin activation and subsequent recruitment efficiency (Bromberger et al., 2021).

Kindlin-3 binding to the β 2 tail results in disruption of a transmembrane association between the integrin tails necessary to achieve the high affinity conformation (Kondo et al., 2021). The signaling pathways and mechanisms that control recruitment of kindlin-3 to the cytosolic β tail have yet to be entirely elucidated. One mechanism by which kindlin-3 recruitment to the cell membrane is regulated is through Phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3Ks) activation. PI3K catalyzes conversion of PIP2 to phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PtdIns(3,4,5) P3) PIP3 which has higher affinity for the kindlin-3 PH domain inserted into the F2 subdomain (Ni et al., 2017). Kindlin-3-dependent integrin activation is also regulated by a requirement for post-translational phosphorylation mediated by protein kinase C alpha (PKC α) in an integrin-linked kinase (ILK)-dependent manner (Margraf et al., 2020). Recently, a study that reported the crystal structure of human full-length kindlin-3 revealed a novel homotrimer state that auto-inhibited binding to the integrin $\beta 2$ cytoplasmic tail by occluding the integrin-binding pocket in the F3 subdomain. Whether this autoinhibited homotrimer occurs in vivo and plays a role in regulation of kindlin-3-mediated integrin activation is still to be confirmed (Bu et al., 2020).

Integrin activation is synergistically signaled by selectin mechanotransduction and ligation of inflammatory mediators (Morikis & Simon, 2018). While high doses of chemokine alone can mediate integrin activation, low doses well below the K_D of chemokine occupancy typically do not signal activation of integrin and rely on synergy with selectin signaling (Yago et al., 2018). The striking cooperativity between selectin mechanosignaling and chemokine signaling is demonstrated by a 100-fold greater sensitivity to the chemokine IL-8 in neutrophils rolling on E-selectin, compared to those under no shear, resulting in a greatly amplified calcium flux which mediates integrin activation and arrest (Schaff et al., 2008).

Chemokine stimulation of G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) signals separation of G proteins, into G α and G $\beta\gamma$ subunits triggering phospholipase C (PLC)- β and PI3K γ activation (Lämmermann & Kastenmüller, 2019). Force acting on L-selectin and PSGL-1 promotes clustering and recruitment of FcR γ and DAP-12 into lipid rafts. Subsequent recruitment of Src family kinase FGR mediates phosphorylation of DAP12 and FcR γ , which recruits Syk (Zarbock et al., 2008). Downstream of Syk activation, SLP-76 and ADAP interaction signals activation of Bruton's Tyrosine kinase (Btk) (Block et al., 2012). Btk activates two distinct signaling pathways through activation of PLCp γ 2 and PI3K γ (Mueller et al., 2010).

Thus, PI3Kγ and PLC serve as common synergistic pathways downstream of selectin and GPCR. PI3Kγ catalyzes conversion of PiP2 to PiP3 promoting recruitment of important adaptor molecules kindlin-3 and Skap2, necessary for integrin transition from extension to high affinity (Boras et al., 2017). PLCs split PIP2 into diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol-1,4,5 triphosphate (IP3), which signals downstream calcium flux and P38 activation. DAG and calcium flux then activate CalDAG-GEFI which along with P38 mediate Rap1 activation of talin-1 (Stadtmann et

al., 2011). DAG also regulates Rap1 activation through activation of PKC (Spitaler & Cantrell, 2004).

Recent studies have shown that ligation of PSGL-1 and L-selectin during rolling elicits release of MRP8/14 (S100A8/A9) which induce activation of Rap-1 and extension of β2-integrin in a Toll-like receptor (TLR)4 dependent manner (Morikis et al., 2017; Pruenster et al., 2015). Mouse experiments showed simultaneous blocking of MRP8/14 and GPCR signaling greatly inhibited neutrophil recruitment. Currently the signaling pathways both upstream and downstream of S100A8/A9 and their importance in mediating neutrophil integrin activation and recruitment are not entirely elucidated. However, increased circulating levels of S100A8/A9 have been linked to several chronic inflammatory diseases motivating work in this dissertation focused on examining the link between S100A8/A9 levels in psoriasis and integrin activation.

1.3 β2-integrin mechanosignaing of calcium flux and ROS

In addition to their paramount importance in mediating neutrophil recruitment from the vasculature, β 2-integrins regulate several neutrophil effector functions vital for clearing infection and resolving inflammation. Focal clusters of high affinity integrin and their cytoplasmic adaptor proteins serve as a complex for mechanotransduction of calcium entry, kinase activation, and cytoskeletal reorganization necessary to achieve neutrophil migration and unleash effector functions including degranulation, phagocytosis, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and NETosis (Bouti et al., 2021; Mayadas & Cullere, 2005). Here we will describe the role of β 2-integrin signaling in mediating calcium flux and downstream production of ROS.

Baseline levels of calcium in quiescent neutrophils are low and elevations in cytosolic calcium regulate activation of intracellular signaling proteins that control neutrophil functions (Immler et al., 2018a). Elevations in cytosolic calcium levels in neutrophils is in part regulated

by an influx of calcium from the extracellular space through membrane channels in a process known as store-operated calcium entry (SOCE) (Immler et al., 2018b). SOCE in neutrophils can be initiated through several receptor pathways including engagement of GPCRs, Fcy-receptors, β2-integrins, PSGL-1, and L-selectin (Futosi et al., 2013). The general signaling pathway mediating SOCE is regulated by activation of phospholipase C (PLC) isotypes. GPCRs trigger the activation of the PLC β subfamily members 2 and 3, while Fcy-receptors, L-selectin and PSGL-1, and β 2-integrins predominantly activate PLCy1 and PLCy2, respectively. PLCs split phosphatidylinositol 4,5 PIP2 into DAG and IP3 (Xu & Jin, 2015). IP3 subsequently binds to IP3 receptor (IP3R) localized in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) triggering the release of ER-stored Ca^{2+} into the cytoplasm through nonselective Ca^{2+} channels (Davies-Cox et al., 2001). Depletion of Ca^{2+} levels in the ER are sensed by the ER transmembrane protein stromal interaction molecule 1 (STIM1) which precipitates colocalization of the ER with the calcium release activated calcium (CRAC) channel Orai1 on the neutrophil membrane (Demaurex & Saul, 2018). Stimulation of Orai1 leads to Ca^{2+} influx from the extracellular space and concomitant increase in intracellular cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration (Schaff et al., 2010).

The integrin signaling complex shares homology with the selectin signaling pathway described earlier with phosphorylation of ITAM-containing proteins, DAP12 and FcRγ, by SFKs, resulting in the activation of SYK which signals activation of PI3K and PLCγ2. In addition to PLC-mediated calcium signaling, integrin mechanosignaling of calcium is regulated by kindlin-3-mediated integrin localization with membrane CRAC channel ORAI1 (Dixit et al., 2012). Recent studies have outlined the importance of kindlin-3 complex with receptor for activated C kinase 1 (RACK1) 1 in mediating ORAI1 clustering upon integrin tension buildup (Morikis et al., 2020). Bond tension across HA LFA-1 precipitates formation of a complex

between kindlin-3, and RACK1. Subsequently, after force build up, RACK1 diffuses away from the adhesion complex. RACK1 then interacts with ER membrane bound IP3R amplifying release of ER calcium store activating STIM-1. This results in STIM-1 mediated colocalization of ER to the cell membrane proximal to Orai1 promoting an influx of Ca^{2+} from the extracellular space.

Mechanical forces are critical in regulating integrin mediated Ca²⁺ transients. Recent experiments have elucidated the exquisite sensitivity of integrin to mechanical forces that regulate calcium signaling. On a recombinant ICAM-1 substrate, .25 dynes/cm2 shear stress was insufficient for signaling clustering of integrin and subsequent calcium flux suggesting the existence of a threshold level of force required for integrin mechanosignaling (Morikis et al., 2020). In this system, integrins responded to shear stresses over a narrow range from 0.5-2 dynes/cm² with increasing shear stress inducing more rapid integrin clustering and downstream calcium flux. Additionally, a system using novel DNA tension gauged tethers (TGT) that break at specified forces (i.e., 12, 33, and 54 pN) further demonstrated the sensitivity of integrin signaling to threshold force, with over 33 pN force required to induce a sustained calcium flux (Morikis et al., 2022). In experiments involving neutrophils adhered to physiological ligands under shear flow, the strength of bonds played a pivotal role in calcium signaling. Specifically, calcium signaling on ICAM-1 and JAM-A was primarily influenced by the LFA-1 receptor, whereas signaling on the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) was predominantly regulated by Mac-1. This corresponded to the relative bond strength of LFA-1 and Mac-1 to the respective ligands (Shu et al., 2020).

Neutrophils are professional killers and one of their most potent weapons is ROS production. ROS production occurs can occur intracellularly in the phagolysosome following phagocytosis of microbes and can be secreted into the extracellular space from the cell plasma

membrane. Neutrophils produce ROS via the multi-protein membrane-bound NADPH (Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-oxidase/Nox2) oxidase complex which converts oxygen to superoxide (Zeng et al., 2019). While release of ROS is important for combating microbes, its unbridled activation can result in tissue damage. Thus, ROS production is controlled by having the NADPH oxidase be composed of both membrane bound and cytosolic components that require cell activation to be phosphorylated and properly assembled (Sheppard et al., 2005). Flavocytochrome b558 (cytb558) is the membrane bound catalytic core that is a heterodimer of gp91phox and gp22phox and is found at low number in the plasma membrane of resting cells with reserves found in the membranes of secretory vesicles and specific granules. The cytosolic components of NADPH are p40phox, p47phox, and p67phox, which reside in the cytosol of resting cells and form a regulatory trimeric complex. This cytosolic complex then binds to p22phox on the cell membrane through interaction with p47phox (Lewis et al., 2010). Binding of the small GTPase protein Rac2 to p67phox is also essential for the electron transfer reaction of NADPH that catalyzes radical oxygen production(Diebold & Bokoch, 2001). The assembly and activation of the NADPH oxidase requires the activation of Rac2 via the exchange of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) for guanosine triphosphate (GTP) and the phosphorylation of p47phox/p40phox/p67phox at multiple serine sites (El-Benna et al., 2016). Then Rac2 and the phosphorylated p47phox/p40phox/p67phox complex will translocate to the membrane to interact with cytb558, forming the NADPH oxidase complex.

 β 2-integrins are potent regulators of ROS production that promote formation and activation of NADPH oxidase. Integrin signaling induces recruitment and fusion of cytoplasmic granules to the plasma membrane upregulating cytb558 and promoting phosphorylation of the cytosolic phox units through transduction of Ca²⁺ flux, activation of PKC, PI3K, and PLC (Nguyen et al.,

2017). While integrin signaling alone can produce ROS, it is through the combination with a secondary stimulus that maximal production of ROS occurs (Nguyen et al., 2017). Most GPCR, Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor or TLR-4 activators produce little to no ROS on their own, but through a process known as neutrophil priming, they are able to induce amplified ROS production in response to a secondary stimulus such as formyl peptide, Fc ligands, or integrin ligation. For example, in suspension picomolar of TNF- α are unable to induce strong ROS production, however, TNF- α induces much greater ROS production in adherent neutrophils in an integrin dependent manner (Mol et al., 2021). This adherence-dependent cooperative signaling activates PI3K and δ -PKC activation of p47phox (Kilpatrick et al., 2009). Thus, ROS production is keenly sensitive to mechanical forces acting on integrins. Neutrophils bound to ICAM-1-linked TGTs that rupture at 54pN were able to produce ROS while 12pN TGTs were unable to facilitate neutrophil ROS. This observation was directly linked to integrin mediated calcium flux as calcium inhibition resulted in abrogation of ROS (Morikis et al., 2022).

1.4 Neutrophil priming in acute and chronic inflammation

Unbridled activation of neutrophil effector functions can cause tissue damage and propagation of inflammation, necessitating careful regulation of the neutrophil activation state. Consequently, before neutrophils can unleash the full extent of their effector functions, a shift to an intermediate state with increased responsiveness to activation known as priming must occur (Condliffe et al., 1998). Priming of neutrophils is induced by exposure to low levels of one or more priming agents such as pro-inflammatory lipids, cytokines, DAMPs, and PAMPs. Once primed, neutrophils possess augmented effector functions (ROS production, degranulation, chemotaxis, and NETosis) in response to subsequent stimuli (Walker & Ward, 1992). While priming agents alone do not typically initiate strong effector function, they do signal phenotypic

and functional changes in neutrophils (Miralda et al., 2017). Priming agents will induce changes in adhesion receptor expression by, mediating L-selectin shedding, promoting activation of integrin, and inducing upregulation of integrin to the plasma membrane from intracellular vesicles. These changes result in increased adhesive capacity and consequently recruitment efficiency (Condliffe et al., 1996). Priming agents will also kickstart transcriptional activity that promotes neutrophil secretion of inflammatory mediators and prolonged lifetime (Wright et al., 2013). Priming will also result in phosphorylation of NADPH oxidase components vital for the amplified ROS production upon secondary stimulation (Elbim et al., 1994).

Acute inflammation is the initial response of the immune system to infection and damage, that is resolved in a short period of time as opposed to chronic inflammation which goes unresolved for months to years (Pahwa & Jialal, 2019). Neutrophils are crucial responders in acute inflammation that eliminate pathogens and clear cell debris. A temporal shift in populations of primed neutrophils is observed throughout the initiation and resolution of acute tissue inflammation. Neutrophil de-priming also occurs during resolution via anti-inflammatory mediators such as resolvins (Kurihara et al., 2013; Vogt et al., 2018). In the case of peritoneal insult, the small population of primed neutrophils in circulation at baseline are quickly recruited into the tissue. One hour after acute peritoneal insult, the majority of neutrophils in bone marrow, blood, and tissue are primed neutrophils. After resolution of inflammation, a return to baseline levels of primed neutrophils is observed (Fine et al., 2019). However, neutrophil priming and activation during acute inflammation such as severe burns and physical trauma can lead to damage not only to the affected tissue sites but to the endothelium, and lungs, and can induce multiple organ failure resulting in death (Adams et al., 2001; Mortaz et al., 2019). Recently, neutrophil priming has been described to play a role in the pathogenesis of COVID-19, serving

as an independent biomarker for disease severity and adverse patient outcome (Dennison et al., 2021). Circulating neutrophils in COVID-19 displayed changes in adhesion markers characteristic of a primed phenotype and showed increased capacity for oxidative burst, NETosis, and phagocytosis (Masso-Silva et al., 2020). The specificity of priming in COVID-19 is demonstrated by the ability to distinguish SARS-CoV-2-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) from non-SARS-CoV-2-induced ARDS (Panda et al., 2022).

Failure to promote resolution of inflammation or dysregulation of the immune system can result in a chronic inflammatory state where constant release of inflammatory mediators perpetuates neutrophil priming and activation (Vogt et al., 2018). Consequently, primed neutrophils will not only damage through their effector functions, but also exacerbate inflammation by the secretion of factors including IL-1, IL-8, and TNF-α that promote further recruitment and activation of immune cells. Circulating primed neutrophils are reported in various chronic inflammatory diseases including lupus, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and psoriasis (Denny et al., 2010; Sur Chowdhury et al., 2014; Teague et al., 2019). Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory disease characterized by skin plaques with neutrophil-laden abscesses (Chiang et al., 2019). Neutrophils play a key role in psoriasis pathogenesis. Once recruited to the psoriatic plaque, primed neutrophils continue to secrete cytokines and chemokines to recruit additional immune cells from the circulation in a feedforward loop (Wang & Jin, 2020). Psoriatic neutrophils show changes in expression of adhesion markers CD62L, CD11b, CD66 that are characteristic of priming. This priming phenotype correlated with disease severity and was remedied with TNF inhibitors (Yamanaka et al., 2014). The mechanisms controlling psoriasis priming in vivo have not been fully established, however psoriatic keratinocytes in culture can

prime neutrophils for ROS production through secretion of IL-8, TNF- α , and Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Guérard et al., 2013).

1.5 Role of DAMPS and cytokines in neutrophil priming:

Neutrophil priming is a complex phenomenon in that specific combinations of priming agents and subsequent activating agents have differential effects on effector responses with no universal signaling pathway (Condliffe et al., 1998). Different priming agents will induce upregulation of overlapping and unique RNA expression add result in different phenotypic changes such as differences in adhesion marker expression (Wright et al., 2013). Upregulation of inflammatory cytokines and DAMPs is a hallmark of chronic inflammation. A thorough understanding of the priming agents associated with specific disease pathologies may provide key drug targets for resolution of systemic inflammation. In this dissertation we explore the role of cytokines (IL-8, TNF- α) and DAMPs (S100A8/A9, LL37) in neutrophil priming and inflammatory response in the chronic inflammatory disease psoriasis.

The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α 's capacity for neutrophil priming has been well documented (Vogt et al., 2018). TNF- α priming induces phosphorylation but not membrane recruitment of the NADPH oxidase component p47phox in a p38 dependent and calcium independent manner. However, when TNF- α is paired with integrin adhesion p47phox and p67phox are recruited to the plasma membrane following phosphorylation (Yan et al., 1995). The efficacy of anti-TNF- α antibody therapy highlights the central role of TNF- α in pathogenesis of several chronic inflammatory conditions including RA and psoriasis (Bradley, 2008).

Treatment with TNF- α inhibiting antibodies reduces neutrophil priming-mediated changes in adhesive capacity in RA and in psoriasis (Dominical et al., 2011; Yamanaka et al., 2014). Since TNF- α can stimulate the release of neutrophil activators in resident cells, it is unknown if the

effects of TNF- α inhibitors are resultant from blocking TNF- α effects on neutrophils directly or indirectly in chronic inflammation.

IL-8 is the primary chemokine that mediates neutrophil recruitment and migration in a variety of acute inflammatory conditions (Harada et al., 1994). During inflammation, IL-8 is presented on the glycocalyx of endothelial cells and ligate neutrophil GPCRs synergizing with selectin signaling to rapidly induce activation of neutrophil integrin that mediate recruitment (Qu et al., 2021; Schaff et al., 2008). As a key inflammatory cytokine for neutrophil recruitment, IL-8 is strongly upregulated in various chronic inflammatory diseases where it serves as a biomarker of disease severity, including lung pathologies, arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, and psoriasis (Russo et al., 2014). Low concentrations of IL-8 can prime neutrophils for amplified ROS production through phosphorylation and assembly of NADPH oxidase components in a calcium, phospholipase A2, BTK, and ERK dependent manner (Bréchard et al., 2005; Daniels et al., 1992; Guichard et al., 2005). Il-8 can also induce or prime NETosis and has been linked to increased capacity to release nets in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients (Podaza et al., 2017). In COVID-19, IL-8 was demonstrated to drive a pro-thrombotic neutrophil phenotype with amplified degranulation, NETosis, and IL-8 release resulting in a positive feed-back loop exacerbating disease (Kaiser et al., 2021).

IL-8 has proved to be a reliable biomarker for psoriasis disease severity, with elevated levels in circulation and skin as well as elevated level of IL-8 mRNA in keratocytes (Arican et al., 2005; Gillitzer et al., 1991; P. Wu et al., 2017). TNF- α and IL-17 which are known biological targets in psoriasis promote IL-8 secretion from keratinocytes (Coimbra et al., 2012; Keijsers et al., 2014). In addition to mediating neutrophil recruitment, IL-8 also promotes keratinocyte proliferation, and angiogenesis exacerbating formation of psoriatic plaques (Heidenreich et al., 2009). While a plethora of evidence supports a role for IL-8 in psoriasis pathogenesis, systemic treatment with a monoclonal antibody targeting IL-8 (ABX-IL8) showed only mild efficacy in phase 2 clinical trials, potentially due to limited penetration of the antibody into the upper epidermis (Pietrzak et al., 2008). However, a topical anti-IL-8 antibody treatment was shown to be effective for treatment of psoriasis and is approved in China (Tsai & Tsai, 2017).

DAMPS are a class of molecules that are released during tissue damage and cell death, or actively by secretion and during serve as a danger signal for inflammation (Murao et al., 2021). DAMPs are highly upregulated in various chronic inflammatory diseases modulating resident and immune cells through pattern recognition receptors including TLRs and cytoplasmic Nodlike receptors (Zindel & Kubes, 2020).

S100 proteins are a family of calcium binding proteins with intracellular and extracellular functionalities (Donato, 2001). S100A8 and S100A9 can form homodimers but preferentially form the heterodimer S100A8/A9 (Calprotectin, MRP8/14), a known antimicrobial protein that sequesters divalent cations such as iron necessary for bacterial respiration (Pruenster et al., 2016). S100A8/A9 and its subunits also have strong pro-inflammatory effects on neutrophils inducing degranulation, integrin activation, chemotaxis, and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (Pruenster et al., 2015; Scott et al., 2020). S100A8/A9 induces a primed neutrophil state characterized by increased adhesion, CD11b upregulation, shedding of CD62L, and increased ROS production in response to GPCR stimulation. S100A9 enhances the production of reactive oxygen species, IL-1, and IL-8 by human neutrophils following activation with monosodium urate crystals which induce gout. This was accompanied by potentiation of downstream and upstream signaling including the mobilization of intracellular calcium stores, tyrosine phosphorylation, phosphorylation of AKT and p38 by PKC, and increases in glycolysis

(Rousseau et al., 2017). A growing body of literature shows the reliability of S100A8/A9 as a biomarker of systemic and local inflammation in several inflammatory diseases including cardiovascular disease, inflammatory bowel disease, RA, psoriasis, and most recently COVID-19 (Cesaro et al., 2012; Mellett & Khader, 2022; Silvin et al., 2020; Sreejit et al., 2020). Elevation of S100A8/A9 in stratum corneum and serum correlates with psoriasis disease severity and reduction is observed after treatment and disease remission (Matsunaga et al., 2021). The S100A8/A9 inhibitor Paquinimod was observed to reduce severity in the Imiquimod-induced psoriasis mouse model, suggesting the potential of S100A8/A9 inhibition for psoriasis therapy (Khaleel & Zalzala, 2023).

The human cathelicidin LL37 is a small cationic peptide that binds to a variety of cell surface receptors modulating responses of various immune cells and keratinocytes (Verjans et al., 2016). LL37 is an antimicrobial protein that cleaves bacterial membrane, however high upregulation in skin is thought to play a role in pathology of several diseases including inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis, rheumatic diseases, and psoriasis (Fabisiak et al., 2016; Frasca & Lande, 2012). LL-37 is stored in neutrophil secondary granules and is released by both degranulation and during NETosis (Pahar et al., 2020). Binding of LL37 to CXCR2 was reported to induce calcium mobilization and migration of neutrophils (Zhang et al., 2009). Priming of neutrophils by LL-37 for influenza virus-mediated respiratory burst and NET formations is mediated by engaging formyl peptide receptor 2 in a calcium dependent manner (Tripathi et al., 2015). LL37 serves as a biomarker for psoriasis severity being upregulated in circulation and in skin of patients and reductions seen upon treatment of disease with Biologic therapy (Fuentes-Duculan et al., 2017; Lao et al., 2023). Complexing of LL37 with RNA has been thought to play a role in psoriasis pathogenesis by activation of dendritic cells and keratinocytes (Albanesi et al.,

2018; Takahashi & Yamasaki, 2020). Recently it was show that neutrophil NETS contain RNA that complex with LL37 and trigger TLR8/TLR13-mediated cytokine and NET release by PMNs in vitro and in vivo creating a self-propagating vicious cycle contributing to chronic inflammation in psoriasis (Herster et al., 2020).

1.6 Dissertation objectives

Neutrophils are designed for rapid response to both foreign matter and danger signals produced during inflammation and tissue damage. Neutrophil priming and activation are carefully regulated, and dysregulation can result in immunodeficiency or conversely exacerbated inflammation. A focus of the Simon lab is to elucidate how mechanical signaling through selectins and integrins and exposure to endogenous ligands and foreign therapeutics regulate neutrophil recruitment and effector functions in health and disease. This dissertation continues this tradition investigating how the iron oxide nanoparticle therapeutics and DAMPS and cytokines upregulated in psoriasis can modulate neutrophil mechanosignaling, calcium flux, and effector functions.

The use of nanoparticles in intravenous diagnostics and therapeutics has been increasing, necessitating research on the potential effects these foreign bodies may be having on neutrophil inflammatory response. Feraheme is an FDA approved iron oxide nanoparticle treatment for iron deficiency anemia. It's also increasingly being employed as a contrast agent for MRI based novel diagnostic imaging techniques. Previously our lab demonstrated the use of iron oxide nanoparticles for high frequency alternating magnetic field mediated thermal ablation of bacteria biofilms in wounds. However, the effect of these particles on innate immune cell function has not been adequately investigated. Thus, the first objective of this dissertation was to determine how Feraheme, an FDA approved iron oxide nanoparticle treatment, affects neutrophil inflammatory responses.

Evidence of the relationship between circulating neutrophil activating DAMPS and cytokines with psoriasis disease severity, systemic inflammation, and cardiac and pulmonary comorbidities continues to grow. Understanding the mechanisms by which DAMPS and cytokines are mediating aberrant neutrophil activation and recruitment that exacerbates psoriatic disease may provide insight to more targeted approaches for psoriatic therapy. Thus, the second objective of this dissertation was to investigate the role of circulating cytokines and DAMPs in priming psoriatic neutrophils for enhanced adhesion and effector function.

Chapter 2 Neutrophil Inflammatory Response Is Downregulated by Uptake of Superparamagnetic Iron Oxide Nanoparticle Therapeutics

2.1 Introduction

Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION) are used as contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging in the liver, central nervous system, gastrointestinal system, and in macrophages (Dadfar et al., 2019). SPION have also found clinical use as an FDA approved treatment of cancer (i.e., Nanotherm) and Iron deficiency anemia in patients with chronic kidney disease (i.e., Feraheme) (Dadfar et al., 2019). While SPION have been used for various clinical applications, a primary consideration for any biomaterial based therapeutic is the host immune response elicited by the interaction of the biomaterial with blood cells. The increased use of SPION has raised concerns over their safety, with several formulations showing cytotoxic and immunotoxic effects (Valdiglesias et al., 2016). This motivated the current study to examine the systemic effects of Feraheme on neutrophils in human blood.

The innate immune system is by design able to recognize and eliminate foreign pathogens and particulate matter through pattern recognition receptors and opsonin receptors that sound the alarm upon detection of danger signals (Gustafson et al., 2015). Opsonization involves the binding of molecules such as antibodies or proteins of the complement system that enhances recognition and removal via endocytosis and phagocytosis of foreign matter by innate immune cells (Owens & Peppas, 2006). As nanoparticles enter the blood stream, complement and other proteins immediately adsorb to the particle surface forming a corona (Barbero et al., 2017). Physiochemical properties of nanoparticles have a direct influence on the composition and formation of the protein corona in such a manner to impact particle-cell interactions (Szeto & Lavik, 2016).Induction of immune hypersensitivity reaction in patients prompted FDA to cancel

clinical use of the SPION Feridex and GastroMARK (Bobo et al., 2016; Wysowski et al., 2010). Further, studies have shown that SPION can induce oxidative stress and cell damage in vitro and in animal models (Gaharwar & R, 2015; X. Wu et al., 2010). Upon binding to the plasma membrane and endocytosis nanoparticles can induce a variety of functional responses in neutrophils such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and chemokine production that vary with different SPION formulations. While some SPION can induce these immune responses, others exert an inhibitory effect, thereby highlighting composition as a key factor when considering nanoparticle use as a therapeutic (Soenen et al., 2011; Valdiglesias et al., 2016). Conventional wisdom is that nanoparticle clearance is mediated by macrophages, however, recent studies indicate that neutrophils also play a key role in particle clearance and this process has been exploited to deliver therapeutic nanoparticles to tumors for cancer therapy, (Jones et al., 2013; Naumenko et al., 2020). Current literature on the immune effects of SPION have largely focused on monocytes and macrophages. This has resulted in an incomplete understanding of the full scope of SPION immune effects on neutrophil function (Shah & Dobrovolskaia, 2018).

Neutrophils are the most common leukocyte in blood circulation and are essential first responders during inflammation. Thus, intravenous administration of nanoparticles is likely to result in frequent neutrophil-particle interactions. Capture of SPION onto the plasma membrane and subsequent endocytosis can perturb the inflammatory response and recruitment of neutrophils to sites of inflammation. Dysregulation of neutrophil activation and recruitment is implicated in various autoimmune and inflammatory diseases (Amulic et al., 2012). Failure of neutrophils to normally adhere to the endothelium and become activated can cause severe impairment of host defense against pathogens, while inappropriate levels of cell recruitment and activation leads to chronic inflammation and tissue damage (Del Fresno et al., 2018; Etzioni et

al., 1992). There are reports of the capacity for coated (Polyacrylic acid) and non-coated iron oxide nanoparticles and metal oxide nanoparticles TiO2, CeO2 and ZnO, to induce ROS production and activate neutrophil degranulation (Babin et al., 2013; Couto et al., 2014). Excessive release of neutrophil granules, which contain chemokine and integrin receptors, elastase, collagenase, and myeloperoxidase, along with overproduction of ROS can lead to inflammatory tissue injury (Lacy, 2006; Winterbourn et al., 2016). Uptake of gold nanoparticles, endoplasmic reticulum stress events and cleavage of cytoskeletal proteins in human neutrophils leading to apoptosis (Noël et al., 2016). Further, Nano and micro particles have been reported to inhibit the recruitment of neutrophils from the circulation to sites of inflammation in mice and to cause a reduction in neutrophil attachment to endothelial monolayers in vascular mimetic flow channels (Fromen et al., 2017; Kelley et al., 2019). The fine balance between the protective functions of neutrophils that maintain immune competence versus exuberant response that can result in tissue and organ damage has prompted the current studies on neutrophil activation and inflammatory recruitment in the presence of Feraheme. Intravenous infusion with Feraheme for delivery of complexed iron is FDA approved at a higher single dose than other products on the market (Macdougall et al., 2014). A typical treatment regime consists of two 510 mg doses separated by 5-8 days as compared to other products that require between 5-10 individual doses, thereby limiting the need for repeated infusion which typically lowers patient compliance. Feraheme also is approved for infusion at higher rates than other iron products with comparable safety (Coyne, 2009; Foster et al., 2013). The increased application of Feraheme in anemia patients who can receive frequent intravenous injections as a course of therapy highlight a need to understand the effects of SPION on neutrophils and their capacity to maintain normal immunosurveillance.

In the current study, we examined the effects of Feraheme on neutrophil degranulation and alterations in receptor expression and conformation on the plasma membrane. We hypothesized that neutrophil uptake of Feraheme in blood alters the normal process of adhesion receptor activation, shear stress resistant neutrophil rolling to arrest and subsequent shape change that precedes cell migration. Vascular mimetic flow channels were employed to assess the kinematics of neutrophil interactions on a substrate of recombinant E-selectin and ICAM-1 in an established model of endothelial inflammation. Feraheme in suspension inhibited neutrophil activation and degranulation induced by IL-8 stimulation, resulting in alteration in the expression of adhesion molecules necessary for the efficient recruitment on inflamed endothelium.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.21Small molecules, antibodies, and other reagents

Monoclonal antibodies for flow cytometric detection of high affinity β2-integrin (mAb24), L-Selectin (Dreg-55, Dreg-56), CD11b (M170), CD18 (1B4), CD66b (G10F5) CD11a (HI111), PSGL-1 (PL-2, KPL-1), CXCR1(8F1/CXCR1), and CXCR2 (5E8/CXCR2) along with antibodies that block CD11b function (Mac-1 blocking, M1/70), fixation buffer, and IL-8 were purchased from Biolegend (San Diego, CA). Recombinant human ICAM-1-IgG and E-Selectin-IgG produced as Fc chimeric constructs were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Adenosine A2A receptor agonist CGS-21680, N-formyl-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP), and reactive oxygen species indicator Dihydrorhodamine 123 were purchased from Millipore Sigma (Burlington, MA). Adenosine A2A receptor antagonist ZM 241385 was purchased from Tocris Bioscience (Minneapolis, MN). Feraheme (AMAG Pharmaceuticals, Waltham, MA) was purchased from the UC Davis Medical Center Pharmacy.

2.22 Human Neutrophil Isolation

Whole blood was obtained from healthy donors consented through a University of California, Davis institutional review board protocol #235586-9. Neutrophils were isolated from whole blood via negative enrichment using EasyStep® direct human neutrophil isolation kit purchased from StemCell Technologies as per manufacturers instruction (Cambridge, MA). Some studies employed a percoll gradient separation using Polymorphoprep® as per manufacturers instruction (Fresenius Kabi). Briefly, for gradient based isolation, whole blood is layered on an equal volume of Polymorphoprep solution and centrifuged at 760g for 30 min at 25°C. The neutrophil layer is collected and washed in Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before resuspension in HBSS buffer containing 0.1% human serum albumin without Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ and kept at 1×10^7 cells/mL on ice after isolation and prior to experimentation. For EasyStep neutrophil isolation, whole blood was diluted 1:1 with PBS then 100 µL of isolation cocktail and magnetic RapidSpheres each were added and incubated for 5 minutes. Cells were then placed in the EasySep magnet for 5 minutes. Cells were poured into a new tube and treated for an additional 5 minutes with 100 µL of magnetic RapidSpheres and placed on the EasySep magnet for 5 minutes twice more. Cells were then spun down and resuspended in HBSS containing 0.1% human serum albumin and kept at 1×10^7 cells/mL on ice prior to use. Cell purity was >90% as determined by Beckman cell coulter counter. Cell viability was ~99% as determined by flow cytometry detection of zombie violet fluorescent dye staining (Biolegend).

2.23 Flow cytometry detection of cell surface marker expression

Neutrophils (1×10^6 cells/ml) in HBSS buffer containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ at 1 mM were treated with IL-8 at a dose range of concentrations (0.01-100 nM) and Feraheme (1-6 mg/ml) for 5 min at 37°C before addition of antibody (1.5-5 µg/ml). Cells were stained with antibodies for
high affinity β2-integrin (mAb24), L-Selectin (Dreg-56), CD11b (M1/70), CD18 (1B4), CD11a (HI111), PSGL-1(KPL-1), CXCR1(8F1/CXCR1), and CXCR2 (5E8/CXCR2) for 20 min at 37°C before fixation with 1% paraformaldehyde at room temperature. After 2 washes with PBS cells were analyzed using the Attune NxT flow cytometer (Thermofisher). Neutrophils were gated by their characteristic forward scatter vs side scatter profile. Receptor expression in terms of sites/cell was determined by comparing the MFI of bound antibody to Quantum Simply Cellular beads (Bangs Laboratories, Inc., Fishers, IN) which contain five bead sets with increasing numbers of antibody binding sites on their surface. From this analysis, a linear relation between MFI and receptor expression was determined for each directly conjugated antibody bound to cells and the calibration bead set.

2.24 Microfluidic shear flow assay

Vascular mimetic flow chambers were utilized to record neutrophil rolling and arrest behavior on substrates of endothelial ligands under physiological shear stresses. Devices were prepared as described previously (Foster et al., 2013). Briefly, poly(dimethylsulfoxide) (PDMS) microfluidic flow chambers with a minimum feature size of 5 μ m were produced by curing Sylgard 184 prepolymer (Dow Corning, Midland, MI, USA) over a patterned silicon wafer. Holes were punched into the PDMS for flow channel and vacuum port access and the device was reversibly vacuum sealed on a glass coverslip coated with E-selectin (1 μ g/ml) alone or with ICAM-1 (1 μ g/ml) in PBS for 60 min at room temperature. To limit non-specific adhesion of neutrophils, coverslips were treated with 1% casein for 10 min before washing with PBS and assembly of the microfluidic device.

Isolated neutrophils were treated with Ca^{2+} indicators 1 Fluo-4 AM or Rhod-2 AM (1 $\mu g/mL$) for 20 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Cells were spun down and resuspended

at 1×10^{6} cells/mL and were treated with Mac-1 blocking antibody M1/70 and incubated with or without MNP in HBSS buffer containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ for 20 min at 37°C. Neutrophils were then treated with 0.5 nM IL-8 or vehicle control and immediately loaded into an open 100 µL reservoir and were drawn through the channel by negative pressure produced by a syringe pump at a shear of 2 dynes/cm2.

Utilizing real time fluorescence microscopy, images of rolling neutrophils were acquired at 60 frames per minute for 4 minutes per field of view on an inverted microscope (Nikon) using a phase contrast 20x objective and recorded with 16-bit digital complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) camera (Andor ZYLA) connected to a PC (Dell) with NIS Elements imaging software (Nikon Instruments Inc.). Arrested neutrophils were defined as having a velocity less than 0.1 μ m/second. Migrating neutrophils were identified by exhibition of a polarized shape defined as exceeding a length/width aspect ratio greater than 1.4 and phase dark contrast indicative of being outside the focal plane of rolling cells.

2.25 L-selectin and PSGL-1 clustering

Total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) microscopy and quantitative dynamic foot printing (qDF) were employed to record fluorescently tagged antibodies targeting L-selectin (non-blocking clone: DREG55) and PSGL-1(non-blocking clone: PL2). Cluster area and frequency during rolling of isolated neutrophils over E-selectin in the presence or absence of Feraheme was observed. A cluster was defined as an area of uniform fluorescence intensity two standard deviations above the mean fluorescence intensity of the cell. Additionally, a cluster was defined as having a surface area of $0.4 \mu m2$ or greater.

2.26 Measurement of reactive oxygen species

Neutrophils $(1 \times 10^{6} \text{ cells/ml})$ in HBSS buffer containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ at 1 mM were incubated with the Reactive oxygen species indicator Dihydrorhodamine 123 (2 µM) and treated with or without IL-8 (1 nM) and Feraheme (4 mg/ml) for 10 min at 37oC before addition of 1 µM fMLP. Cells were incubated with fMLP at 37°C for 5 min and then placed on ice to end reactions and reactive oxygen species was then quantified through flow cytometry.

2.27 Measurement of calcium flux

Isolated neutrophils were treated with the Ca²⁺ indicator Fluo-4 AM (1 μ g/mL) for 20 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Cells were spun down and resuspended at 1x10⁶ cells/mL in HBSS buffer containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ at 1 mM and treated with or without the adenosine A2A receptor antagonist ZM 241385 (2.5 μ M) for 5 min at 37C. Feraheme (4 mg/ml) and or adenosine A2a receptor agonist CGS 21680 (1 μ M) were then added to the cell solutions for 10 min at 37°C. After incubation IL-8 (1nM) was added to cell solutions and calcium fluorescence time course was immediately read on the Facscan flow cytometer (BDbiosciences)

2.3 Feraheme inhibits neutrophil activation and degranulation stimulated by IL-8.

Stimulation with chemotactic factors activate within seconds neutrophil degranulation, which results from the fusion of granule membranes to the plasma membrane resulting in upregulation of additional CD11b/CD18 and CD66b receptors. Activation also results in a shift in the conformation of CD18 from constitutive low affinity conformation at rest to high affinity upon CXCR ligation, as well as the shedding of L-selectin receptors through the action of the metalloprotease ADAM17 (Lum et al., 2002; Miralda et al., 2017). We first assessed the capacity of different concentrations of Feraheme in suspension to alter neutrophil responses to chemotactic activation via CXCR1/2 in cells stimulated at the KD of IL-8 stimulation (~1 nM). Neutrophils were incubated at 370C in the presence and absence of Feraheme and IL-8 for 5

minutes before the addition of fluorescent antibodies for 20 min followed by cell fixation. The presence of Feraheme led to significant alterations in expression of CD62L, CD11b, and high affinity (HA) CD18 at each dose applied (1-6 mg/ml) (Figure 2.1). A dose dependent increase in the inhibition of degranulation was observed, as well as diminished activation of integrin and proteolytic cleavage of L-selectin. Since the effect of Feraheme was observed to plateau at 4 mg/ml, subsequent studies were performed using this concentration.



Figure 2.1: Effect of Feraheme concentration on integrin and selectin expression following chemotactic stimulation of neutrophils. Isolated human neutrophils were incubated with 1nM IL-8 and Feraheme magnetic nanoparticles (MNP) for 25 min and cell surface expression of (A) CD62L, (B) CD11b, and (C) HA CD18 was assessed by flow cytometry. Representative histograms depict fluorescent antibody detection for each adhesion receptor at baseline receptor

expression and following IL-8 stimulation in presence and absence of MNP. Bivariate data are presented as the percent shedding from unstimulated baseline mean \pm SEM for CD62L and percent of unstimulated baseline expression mean \pm SEM for CD11b and HA CD18 (n≥4 donors) with experimental replicates averaged for each donor. Paired T-test was performed comparing the average value at each concentration to the 0mg/ml Feraheme condition of the same donor * and ** denote p value ≤.05 and ≤ 0.01, respectively.

We next evaluated the effect of Feraheme on adhesion receptor expression over a dose range of chemotactic stimulation with IL-8. A typical sigmoidal dose dependent decrease in L-selectin expression followed addition of IL-8 between 0.1-100nM, which reached a maximum of ~90% loss at 5 nM IL-8 from baseline expression on quiescent neutrophils (Figure 2.2A). Upregulation in surface expression of CD11b and CD18 provided a sensitive measure of activation, increasing by 2-fold and 2.3-fold from baseline up to maximum expression at 10 nM IL-8 (Fig 2.2B-C). Another sensitive measure of neutrophil activation was provided by the increased binding of mAb24 that reports on the allosteric conversion of CD18 receptors from low to high affinity, which yielded a 3-fold increase in expression at maximum IL-8 stimulation (Fig 2.2B-D). It is noteworthy that the maximum extent of L-selectin shedding was lowered by Feraheme at 4 mg/ml compared with 0 mg/ml, as indicated by the elevated plateau at a dose of IL-8 > 5 nM from 10% up to 25% total receptor expression (Figure 2.2A). Moreover, the extent of upregulation of CD11b/CD18 and conversion of CD18 to the HA conformation was significantly inhibited, as indicated by a ~2-fold increase in the EC50 of IL-8 stimulation. This

resulted in a reduced sensitivity to activation that was significant at IL-8 doses of 0.5 and 1 nM for CD11b, total CD18, and HA CD18 (Figure 2.2B-D).



Figure 2.2: Feraheme alters adhesion receptor expression over a dose range in stimulation with IL-8. Isolated human neutrophils were incubated with IL-8 and Feraheme MNP for 25 min and cell surface expression of (A) CD62L, (B) CD11b, (C) CD18, and (D) HA CD18 was assessed by flow cytometry. The data are presented as the percent of maximum receptor expression mean \pm SEM (n \geq 5 donors) with experimental replicates averaged for each donor. Paired T-tests were performed comparing the average of the 0 mg/ml to the 4mg/ml conditions for the same donor *, **, and *** denote p value $\leq .05$, ≤ 0.01 , and ≤ 0.001 , respectively.

A marker of the release of secondary granules is the increase in membrane expression of

CD66b, which is transported to the plasma membrane along with CD11b/CD18 (Lacy, 2006).

The presence of Feraheme elicited a significant inhibition in upregulation of CD66b, increasing

the EC50 of IL-8 stimulation by ~30% (Figure 2.3A). In contrast, CD11a and PSGL-1 adhesion receptors that are constitutively expressed on circulating neutrophils and typically do not register a change in receptor number in response to chemotactic stimulation, remained constant over the dose range of IL-8 stimulation in the presence of Feraheme (Figure 2.3B-C).



Figure 2.3: Feraheme does not inhibit antibody recognition of adhesion receptors. Isolated human neutrophils were incubated with IL-8 and Feraheme magnetic nanoparticles (MNP) for 25 min and cell surface expression of (A) CD66B, (B) CD11a, (C) PSGL-1 was assessed by flow cytometry. The data are presented in mean \pm SEM (n \geq 3 donors) with experimental duplicates for each donor.

Neutrophils are reported to endocytose CXCR1/2 following ligation and signaling by IL-

8 (Rose et al., 2004). This motivated experiments to determine if Feraheme altered the

expression of CXCR1/2, consequently accounting for the diminished capacity to induce changes

in adhesion molecule expression following stimulation. Unexpectedly, incubating unstimulated neutrophils in suspension with Feraheme at 4 mg/ml elicited a ~26% increase in expression of CXCR1 and a ~15 % increase in CXCR2 (Figure 2.4). A significant amount of CXCR1 endocytosis following IL-8 simulation was not observed in the presence or absence of Feraheme (Figure 2.4A). In contrast, the small amount of CXCR2 endocytosis in response to IL-8 stimulation was not altered in the presence of Feraheme (Figure 2.4B). These results indicate that CXCR1/2 expression either remains constant or increases in the presence of Feraheme and IL-8 stimulation. Thus, it is unlikely that the mechanism left-shifting the IL-8 dose response for activation is diminished expression of chemotactic receptors. Feraheme is also not altering the endocytosis of CXCR2 receptors in cells treated with 1nM IL-8 indicating it is not interfering with IL-8 ligation of CXCR2. Thus, it is probable that Feraheme is leading to dramatically reduced responses to IL-8 stimulation by affecting intracellular signaling downstream of receptor ligation.



Figure 2.4: Feraheme alters CXCR expression in neutrophils. Isolated human neutrophils were incubated with IL-8 or vehicle and Feraheme for 25 min and cell surface expression of (A) CXCR1 and (B) CXCR2 was assessed by flow cytometry. The data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n \geq 4 donors) with experimental duplicates averaged for each donor. Paired T-tests were performed comparing the average value for the 4 mg/ml to the 0 mg/ml Feraheme conditions of the same donor * and *** denote p value \leq .05 and \leq 0.001, respectively. Paired T-tests were performed comparing the average value for a condition to the 0 nM IL-8 condition of the same donor \$ denotes p value \leq .05.

2.4 Feraheme inhibits the activation of ROS production in neutrophils.

To further explore the influence of Feraheme on neutrophil function, ROS production

was quantified using flow cytometry to detect intracellular Dihydrorhodamine 123 fluorescence.

Production of ROS is a key antimicrobial mechanism of neutrophils and has also been implicated

in recruitment to sites of inflammation by increasing vascular permeability (Zhu & He, 2006).

The bacterial tripeptide fMLP is a potent chemotactic factor that binds to G-protein coupled Formyl peptide receptors expressed on neutrophils and activates the respiratory burst and production of ROS. Feraheme led to a significant 30% reduction of ROS production in neutrophils stimulated with 1 µM fMLP (Figure 2.5). Pre-treatment with IL-8 has previously been reported to prime neutrophils for enhanced fMLP induced ROS production through assembly of the NADPH oxidase components into lipid rafts on the plasma membrane (Guichard et al., 2005). Feraheme significantly reduced ROS production by 48% in cells primed with low dose IL-8 and stimulated with fMLP. While uptake of SPION other than Feraheme have been reported to induce ROS production, the presence of Feraheme did not lead to detectable ROS production in unstimulated neutrophils. This data indicates that Feraheme inhibits formyl peptide receptor signaling of ROS production, including increased ROS induced by IL-8 priming.





2.5 Neutrophil recruitment on endothelial adhesion molecules is altered in the presence of Feraheme.

It has been reported that exposure to nanoparticles and microparticles reduced neutrophil recruitment to inflamed mesentery microvasculature in mice (Fromen et al., 2017). Moreover, polystyrene nanoparticles have been shown to reduce adhesion of human neutrophils to inflamed human umbilical vein endothelial cells in parallel plate flow chamber studies (Kelley et al., 2019). This motivated determination of the effect of Feraheme on the multistep process of recruitment in vitro using microfluidic flow channels (Fromen et al., 2017; Kelley et al., 2019; Schaff et al., 2007). Fluorescence microscopy was employed to image the dynamics of neutrophil rolling and arrest within vascular mimetic microfluidic channels containing substrates coated with E-selectin alone or in conjunction with ICAM-1. Neutrophil suspensions were incubated for 20 min with Feraheme at 1 mg/ml or 4 mg/ml and compared with vehicle control in response to stimulation with 0.5 nM IL-8 prior to perfusion through the flow channel. This dose of IL-8 corresponded with the lowest concentration of stimulus in which a significant inhibition of CD18 activation and L-selectin shedding was elicited by Feraheme. Capture and rolling on E-selectin is primarily mediated by recognition of sLex presenting ligands on Lselectin and PSGL-1 expressed on neutrophils. The velocity of neutrophil rolling on E-selectin at a venular shear stress of 2 dyne/cm2 increased ~37% in the presence of Feraheme at 4 mg/ml compared to vehicle alone, whereas no alteration in rolling velocity was detected at 1 mg/ml (Figure 2.6A-B). This increased rolling velocity was accompanied by a 40% increase in the variance of the mean velocity, which is consistent with an unsteady trajectory of neutrophils interacting with the substrate under shear flow. Neutrophils require ICAM-1 on the substrate to provide an anchor for activated integrins to bind in order to achieve shear resistant cell arrest

(Lum et al., 2002). Perfusion through flow channels derivatized with E-selectin and ICAM-1 were used to study Feraheme's effect on the kinematics of neutrophil arrest and transition to a migratory phenotype. In the absence of IL-8 chemotactic stimulation, Feraheme lead to a dose dependent increase in rolling velocity on E-selectin coated substrates, which increased by ~30 % and $\sim 60\%$ when neutrophils were exposed to 1 mg/ml and 4 mg/ml Feraheme, respectively (Figure 2.6C-D). Moreover, an ~80% increase in variance of mean velocity corresponded to treatment at 4 mg/ml Feraheme, while 1 mg/ml increased variance by 17%. Stimulation with IL-8 leads to the activation of HA CD18 that binds ICAM-1 and mediates deceleration to arrest (Lum et al., 2002). Consequently, stimulation with IL-8 on E-selectin/ICAM-1 coated substrates resulted in a 50% decrease in rolling velocity and within ~40 seconds most neutrophils exhibited a rapid transition to arrest (Figure 2.6C, F). Neutrophils treated with Feraheme at 4 mg/ml exhibited ~40% higher rolling velocity compared to the 1 mg/ml or vehicle control conditions (Figure 2.6D). In the absence of IL-8 stimulation, outside-in signaling via E-selectin binding and clustering of L-selectin is sufficient to activate ~40% of cells to convert from rolling to arrest that is supported by activation of HA CD18 to bind ICAM-1 (Morikis et al., 2017). Feraheme at 1 mg/ml and 4 mg/ml concentrations inhibited this L-selectin mediated signaling of arrest, as well as decreased transition to a migratory state from 12% of cells to <1% of cells assuming a polarized shape (Figure 2.6E). In contrast, in the presence of IL-8 stimulation, we did not detect significant inhibition in the frequency of neutrophils rolling to arrest in presence of Feraheme (Figure 2.6E). This is likely due to the fact that coupled with shear force mediated L-selectin signaling, even very low concentrations of IL-8 can lead to activation of HA CD18 receptors sufficient to mediate conversion from rolling to arrest (Schaff et al., 2008). However, in the presence of Feraheme, a significant increase was detected in the duration of rolling before the

onset of cell arrest for both IL-8 stimulated and unstimulated neutrophil suspensions. Increasing from 42.1 seconds to arrest in the 0 mg/ml condition to 55.1 and 91.9 seconds in the 1 mg/ml and 4 mg/ml conditions, respectively (Figure 2.6F). In IL-8 treated cells only the 4 mg/ml condition resulted in significantly increasing the time to arrest compared to the 0 mg/ml condition, from 20.0 to 34.7 seconds. We conclude that Feraheme exerts a significant effect on the kinematics of rolling to arrest on E-selectin and ICAM-1 in terms of increasing the velocity and signaling associated with HA CD18 mediated arrest.



Figure 2.6: Feraheme alters the kinetics of neutrophil rolling and arrest in microfluidic flow channels. (A) Neutrophil rolling velocity over an E-selectin substrate treated with vehicle or Feraheme (1 mg/ml, 4 mg/ml). (B) Cumulative rolling velocities of neutrophils over an E-

selectin substrate treated with vehicle or Feraheme (1 mg/ml,4 mg/ml). (C) Mean neutrophil rolling velocity over an E-selectin+ ICAM-1 substrate treated with Feraheme (1mg/ml,4 mg/ml) and/or IL-8 (0.5 nM). (D) Cumulative rolling velocities of neutrophils over an E-selectin + ICAM-1 substrate treated with vehicle or Feraheme (1 mg/ml,4 mg/ml) and/or IL-8 (0.5 nM). (E) Neutrophil rolling to arrest and migration over an E-selectin+ ICAM-1 substrate treated with Feraheme (1 mg/ml,4 mg/ml) and/or IL-8 (0.5 nM). (E) Neutrophil rolling to arrest and migration over an E-selectin+ ICAM-1 substrate treated with Feraheme (1 mg/ml,4 mg/ml) and/or IL-8 (0.5 nM). * and \$ denote T-Test p-values of \leq .05 as compared to the 0 mg/ml MNP condition for arrest and migration, respectively. (F) Neutrophil time to arrest over an E-selectin+ ICAM-1 substrate treated with Feraheme (1 mg/ml,4 mg/ml) and/or IL-8 (0.5 nM). For B, D, and F, * and **** denote T-Test p-values of \leq .05 and \leq 0.0001, respectively. Data in B, D, E, and F are presented in mean ± SEM (n \geq 4 donors) with at least 15 cells for each donor per condition.

2.6 Feraheme perturbs the process of E-selectin ligand clustering on rolling neutrophils.

E-selectin recognition of L-selectin and PSGL-1 under shear flow leads to receptor coclustering and mechanotransduction of signals leading to HA CD18 binding to ICAM-1 (Morikis et al., 2017). To further examine how uptake of Feraheme effects the process of selectin mediated rolling and deceleration to arrest, total internal reflection fluorescence (TIRF) microscopy and quantitative dynamic footprinting (qDF) was performed to determine the Lselectin and PSGL-1 bond cluster formation during rolling on a substrate of E-selectin. Treatment with Feraheme resulted in an increase in L-selectin bond cluster area (i.e., lower density of L-selectin) and marginal changes in the frequency of cluster formation detected in the presence and absence of IL-8 stimulation (Figure 2.7A-B). Examining the average density of Lselectin receptors within clusters bound to E-selectin, a significant decrease was detected in the presence of IL-8 stimulation for 4 mg/ml compared to 0 mg/ml Feraheme (Figure 2.7C). In contrast, Feraheme did not affect E-selectin mediated formation of PSGL-1 cluster area and frequency nor PSGL-1 cluster density (Figure 2.7D-E). These data are consistent with the observed increase in rolling velocity and decreased outside-in signaling via E-selectin in the presence of Feraheme and indicate this effect may be a function of diminished L-selectin bond

formation despite the observed higher frequency and area of L-selectin within sites of adhesive contact.





2.7 Feraheme accelerates clearance of cytosolic calcium after flux.

Calcium serves as a secondary messenger downstream of GPCR signaling that mediate neutrophil inflammatory responses including degranulation, integrin activation and adhesion, shape change, and ROS production (Immler et al., 2018a). IL-8 ligation of CXCR leads to a release of endoplasmic reticular (ER) stored calcium into the cytosolic space which is subsequently sequestered by the ER calciosomes to replenish stores. High concentrations of extracellular adenosine which binds to the adenosine A2A receptor is known to dampen neutrophil inflammatory responses (Anderson et al., 2000). The mechanism as depicted in the schematic (Figure 2.8A) is initiated by ligand binding to the adenosine A2A receptor inducing disassociation and activation of the $G\alpha$ subunit of the A2A receptor linked heterotrimeric G protein which then activates adenylyl cyclase. Adenylyl cyclase activation leads to production of cyclic AMP (cAMP), which in turn activates cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) and leads to accelerated sequestration of calcium through PKA-activated endo-membrane Ca²⁺-ATPases. To determine if Feraheme's inhibitory effects on intracellular signaling are mediated through accelerated clearance of IL-8 induced calcium flux, the time course of cytosolic calcium stimulated by IL-8 in Feraheme treated neutrophils was compared in the presence and absence of adenosine A2A receptor agonist CGS 21680 (CGS). Following IL-8 induced release of ER Ca²⁺, Feraheme elicited an accelerated decrease in cytosolic calcium as compared to untreated cells. The level of accelerated Ca^{2+} clearance was equivalent and not additive with CGS (Figure 2.8B). The duration required for a decrease to 20% of the maximum Ca²⁺ flux elicited by IL-8 was 60 seconds in untreated cells compared to 36, 22, and 22 seconds for Feraheme, CGS, and Feraheme + CGS, respectively (Figure 2.8C). Neither Feraheme nor CGS alone reduced the

maximal Ca^{2+} flux elicited by IL-8, while added together they resulted in a slight reduction (Figure 2.8D).



Figure 2.8: Feraheme MNP (4 mg/ml) accelerates clearance of cytosolic calcium following IL-8 stimulated calcium flux. (A) Diagram depicts the pathway of Ca²⁺ mediated neutrophil activation and antagonism by CGS 21680 via the Adenosine receptor. (B) Kinetics of cytosolic calcium clearance following maximal release due to 1 nM IL-8 at t=0 sec. (C) Duration for Ca²⁺ clearance to reach 20 percent of maximum value. (D) Fold change between maximal calcium flux and baseline level in untreated cells. Data are presented in mean \pm SEM (n =3 donors) with experimental replicates for each donor. Paired T-tests were performed comparing experimental conditions to the NO MNP condition of the same donor *, and ** denote p value \leq .05, and \leq 0.01, respectively.

To determine if Feraheme mediated inhibition acts through release and binding of extracellular adenosine, the clearance of calcium after IL-8 stimulated Ca^{2+} flux was compared to that activated by the adenosine A2A receptor agonist CGS 21680 (CGS) while blocking signaling via the A2A receptor with the adenosine A2A receptor antagonist ZM 241385 (ZM) as depicted in Figure 2.9A. As expected, in neutrophils preincubated with ZM the sequestration effect of CGS was completely abrogated. In contrast, Feraheme treatment remained effective in accelerating the decrease in cytosolic Ca^{2+} following IL-8 stimulation (Figure 2.9B). In untreated cells the duration to 20% of maximum Ca^{2+} flux was 65 seconds compared to 46, 63, and 42 seconds for Feraheme, CGS, and Feraheme+ CGS, respectively (Figure 2.9). All conditions registered the same maximal Ca^{2+} flux (Figure 2.9D).



Figure 2.9: Feraheme MNP (4 mg/ml) accelerated clearance of IL-8 stimulated cytosolic Ca^{2+} is independent of the Adenosine A2A receptor. The Adenosine A2A receptor antagonist ZM (2.5 μ M) was applied for 5 min in calcium buffer. (A) Diagram depicts calcium flux in cells preincubated with ZM before treatment with the Adenosine A2A receptor agonist CGS (B) Kinetics of cytosolic calcium resequestration from maximal flux induced by IL-8 (1 nM) at t=0 sec. (C) Time from maximal calcium flux until calcium levels reach 20 percent of max value. (D) Fold change between maximal calcium flux and untreated cells. Data are presented in mean \pm SEM (n=3 donors) with experimental replicates for each donor. Paired T-tests were performed comparing experimental conditions to the NO MNP condition of the same donor. denotes a p value \leq .05.

2.8 Discussion.

Neutrophil recruitment and attachment to inflamed endothelium is mediated by a multistep process involving ligation and mechanosignaling from the outside-in through selectins and integrins following bond formation (Morikis & Simon, 2018). CXCR ligation of IL-8 by neutrophils interacting with inflamed endothelium under shear flow induce degranulation and the activation of CD18 to a high affinity state, as well as the rapid shedding of L-selectin (Lacy, 2006; Miralda et al., 2017). Here we demonstrated that, treating neutrophils in suspension over a dose range with Feraheme elicited reduced responsiveness to stimulation with 1nM IL-8 at each dose tested (1-6 mg/ml), resulting in increased inhibition of CD11b upregulation, HA CD18 activation, and L-selectin shedding with increasing particle concentration of Feraheme. Treating with a Feraheme dose of 4 mg/ml resulted in a consistent ~2-fold right shift in the EC50 of stimulation with IL-8 corresponding to diminished upregulation of CD11b/CD18, activation of HA CD18, and L-selectin shedding. Chemokine receptor expression in unstimulated cells was significantly elevated in the presence of Feraheme, but these changes in expression did not explain the inhibitory effects observed. Feraheme also did not alter endocytosis of CXCR2 in response to IL-8 signaling, suggesting that its mechanism of action is not through down regulation or interference with CXCR ligation. Feraheme also significantly reduced fMLP induced ROS production in the presence or absence of IL-8 priming. Taken together, we conclude that the inhibitory effects of Feraheme are not exclusive to CXCR1/2 signaling by IL-8, but include signaling through other GPCR namely, formyl peptide receptors.

Uptake of nanoscale poly(styrene) and liposomal particles by neutrophils was shown to not enhance apoptosis, activation, or cell death. Ingested nanoparticles were reported to reside in intracellular compartments that are retained during degranulation (Simon et al., 2000). Uncoated SPION are reported to aggregate and induce the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) that are extracellular fibers consisting of expelled DNA. This pro-inflammatory host response is mitigated by coating SPION with layers of dextran or human serum albumin (Bilyy et al., 2018). In our experiments Feraheme did not reduce cell viability, which exceeded 99%. Although we did not specifically test for netosis in our studies of neutrophil arrest and migration, no visible changes in cell morphology that is characteristic of netosis was observed. In-vivo studies have demonstrated that uptake of nanoparticles can diminish the efficiency of neutrophil recruitment to inflamed endothelium within the lungs of mice. However, the mechanism that may involve cell-particle uptake and competitive binding to adhesion receptors, which could interfere with chemotactic or adhesive ligand binding during recruitment remained elusive (Fromen et al., 2017; Kelley et al., 2019). Here we report that following 20 minutes of exposure to Feraheme in suspension, we observed diminished efficiency of neutrophil arrest and migration as measured in an established model of endothelial inflammation in vascular mimetic shear flow channels. We have recently reported that deceleration of neutrophils within the vascular mimetic substrate in microfluidic flow channels is mediated by as few as 200 HA CD18 binding ICAM-1 in order to transition from rolling to arrest (Morikis et al., 2017). In the absence of IL-8 stimulation and in the presence of Feraheme, a ~50% reduction was measured in the frequency of neutrophils rolling to arrest on E-selectin/ICAM-1 at both 1 and 4 mg/ml. Moreover, neutrophils rolled over twice the distance before activation and binding of HA CD18 integrin bonds formed stable arrest. Inhibition of neutrophil CD11b/CD18 mediated migration after arrest was also observed at 1 and 4 mg/ml Feraheme. Thus, Feraheme uptake in a concentration dependent manner alters both selectin and GPCR mediated signaling of HA CD18 necessary to transition from rolling on E-selectin to arrest on ICAM-1. It has been previously shown that L-

selectin catch-bonds, characterized by a prolonged bond lifetime as tensile force is increased, is necessary and sufficient to signal CD18 transition to a HA state (Morikis et al., 2017). We show that Feraheme reduced both L-selectin shedding in response to IL-8 and L-selectin clustering during rolling on E-selectin, but it had no effect on PSGL-1 expression. Noteworthy was the finding that cluster area of L-selectin bonds during rolling on E-selectin in the presence of shear stress and IL-8 stimulation was increased, while the density of bond formation within these clusters decreased. This indicates that Feraheme may alter L-selectin signaling, but not recognition by E-selectin on the surface of rolling neutrophils. This is consistent with the significant rise in the mean rolling velocity on E-selectin that was observed to increase with Feraheme concentration. This provides one potential explanation as to how Feraheme reduces the efficiency of the transition to cell arrest, in that it may alter the capacity of E-selectin/Lselectin to form catch-bonds. Increased availability of L-selectin to form bond clusters in the presence of Feraheme coincided with reduced density of bonds on E-selectin and also with a reduced frequency of cell arrest suggesting that the normal process of neutrophil deceleration at sites of inflammation may be perturbed. Reduced levels of L-selectin shedding may potentially contribute to the inhibition of arrest and polarization observed in Feraheme treated cells. Consistent with the latter observation are reports that L-selectin shedding has been reported to amplify integrin-mediated outside-in signaling-dependent processes, including neutrophil migration, production of ROS, and phagocytosis (Cappenberg et al., 2019). L-selectin shedding induces phosphorylation of phospholipase C (PLC)_{γ2}, Akt, and Syk, critical regulators of intracellular calcium release that are important for E-selectin mediated slow rolling and CD18 integrin activation in neutrophils (Cappenberg et al., 2019; Mueller et al., 2010). Thus, inhibition of L-selectin shedding may also interfere with normal activation of HA CD18 during rolling on

E-selectin, despite the elevated expression of L-selectin on the surface. While it is likely that Feraheme is endocytosed by neutrophils in suspension, we cannot rule out that a fraction remain bound to the plasma membrane and sterically interfere with the recognition and mechanics of selectin bond formation. Due to optical limitations in real-time imaging of SPION bound to the plasma membrane at the nanoscale, we could not directly image whether Feraheme specifically bound to L-selectin receptors and sterically interfered with catch-bond formation associated with mechanotransduction of CD18 activation. What is clear is that Feraheme altered the efficiency of L-selectin's capacity to mechanosignal activation of HA CD18, but not necessarily its ability to bind E-selectin and form focal clusters.

To elucidate a possible mechanism for Feraheme inhibition of GPCR signaling the effects of Feraheme on calcium flux after IL-8 stimulation was recorded. Feraheme significantly accelerated the clearance of calcium after flux and this response was comparable to that of the adenosine A2A receptor agonist CGS 21680 known to inhibit degranulation and ROS production. The effect of Feraheme was not dependent on adenosine as treatment with the adenosine A2A receptor antagonist ZM 241385 did not perturb the acceleration of calcium clearance in response to Feraheme. Calcium signaling plays a key role in GPCR mediated degranulation, L-selectin shedding, integrin activation, and ROS production which are all inhibited by Feraheme. Calcium is also necessary for selectin mechanosignaling induced activation of HA LFA-1 and for integrin signaling of shape change and polarization after arrest (Morikis & Simon, 2018). Accelerated clearance of calcium could potentially be resulting in the decreased arrest and polarization observed in Feraheme treated cells by inhibiting selectin mechanosignaling. These experiments highlight a consistent effect of Feraheme uptake on neutrophil intracellular signaling, but the mechanism which may involve Feraheme steric influence on normal cell surface receptor affinity or avidity in binding ligand needs to be confirmed in future studies. The non-additive inhibition in the presence of Feraheme and CGS could indicate a shared downstream mechanism for the accelerated clearance of Ca^{2+} . We propose that Feraheme may induce sequestration of calcium through activation of endomembrane Ca^{2+} -ATPases rather than by efflux of calcium through activation of plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -pump, the proposed mechanism of action for CGS (Figure 2.10).



Figure 2.10: Schematic depicting the proposed mechanism of Ca^{2+} sequestration and inhibition of downstream response by Feraheme. Feraheme may inhibit neutrophil function through activation of endo-membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPases leading to accelerated clearance of cytosolic calcium inhibiting intracellular signaling. CXCR1/2 ligation by endogenous receptor ligands (IL-8, fMLP) leads to dissociation of G α from G $\beta\gamma$ subunits of G proteins activating PLC β 2/3 which splits phosphatidylinositol 4,5 biphosphate (PIP2). PIP2 splits releasing inositol-1,4,5 triphosphate (IP3) that binds to IP3 receptor (IP3R) on the surface of the endoplasmic reticulum inducing calcium flux which signals for downstream effector functions (integrin

activation, degranulation, and reactive oxygen species production). We propose that Feraheme MNP are being endocytosed by neutrophils which through an unknown intermediary lead to activation of endo-membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPases that sequester calcium and inhibit calcium signaling of functional responses down stream of GPCR.

In summary, Feraheme exerted an immunosuppressive effect on neutrophil activation in response to IL-8 and fMLP, as well as outside-in signaling via E-selectin during neutrophil recruitment in shear flow. A potential mechanism may involve the observed Feraheme induced acceleration of calcium clearance resulting in a reduced capacity for cell signaling of immune responses. Further studies are warranted to elucidate the mechanism by which Feraheme induces accelerated calcium clearance, potentially though elevation of cAMP leading to downstream activation of endo-membrane Ca²⁺-ATPases, and whether this is the primary mechanism for the inhibition of neutrophil inflammatory responses observed herein. Whether these effects are seen with other SPION formulations is also a relevant question to pursue. These, immunosuppressive effects could lead to impaired immune responses to infection or sterile tissue insult in patients treated with Feraheme. The current studies also point to the expanded use of SPION to downregulate the innate immune response as a therapy for ameliorating chronic inflammation and/or autoimmune diseases.

Chapter 3: Psoriatic Neutrophils are Primed in Circulation for Enhanced β₂-integrin Dependent Recruitment and Effector Function on E-selectin and ICAM-1.

3.1 Introduction

Psoriasis is an inflammatory disease that is initiated by pathogenic T cells within skin lesions that correlates with hyperproliferation of keratinocytes and the release of cytokines and damage associated molecular pattern (DAMP) molecules into the circulation (Wang & Jin, 2020). Exposure to DAMPs and low levels of cytokines and chemokines shift neutrophils from a quiescent to primed state characterized by increased sensitivity to subsequent stimulation that induces amplified adhesive and effector function at sites of tissue inflammation (Miralda et al., 2017). An early event in psoriatic plaque formation is the recruitment of primed neutrophils into the dermis where they degranulate, release reactive oxygen species (ROS), and produce neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) enriched in DAMPs, which include cathelicidin (LL37) and calprotectin (S100A8/A9) that exacerbate skin inflammation (Shao et al., 2019).

In particular, calprotectin levels rise with neutrophil count in circulation that correlates with the intensity of plaque formation in psoriasis and cardiovascular disease comorbidity (Berg et al., 2022; Matsunaga et al., 2021). Calprotectin signals through toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) to elicit an allosteric upshift of β 2-integrins (CD11/CD18) from a bent to extended conformation with intermediate affinity to bind ICAM-1 on inflamed endothelium (Pruenster et al., 2015). Previously, we reported that ligation of L-selectin on neutrophils rolling on E-selectin elicits the secretion of calprotectin that primes them for enhanced recruitment efficiency on inflamed endothelium (Morikis et al., 2017). Here, we examined the importance of calprotectin in priming for enhanced β 2-integrin-mediated neutrophil inflammatory response in psoriasis.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.21 Reagents

Recombinant human ICAM-1-Fc and E-selectin-Fc chimeric constructs were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Protein G-Biotin and Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Burlington, MA). Fluorescently tagged monoclonal antibodies for flow cytometric detection of high affinity β2-integrin (mAb24), L-Selectin (Dreg-56), and CD11b (M1/70), along with unlabeled antibodies that block CD18 (IB4), CD11b (M1/70), and Fc receptor (TruStain FcXTM), recombinant S100A8/A9, TNF-α, IL-8, and fixation buffer (4% paraformaldehyde) were purchased from Biolegend (San Diego, CA). Dihydrorhodamine 123 is a nonfluorescent reactive oxygen species (ROS) indicator that diffuses across membranes where it localizes in the mitochondria and exhibits green fluorescence. Fluorescent calcium indicator Fluo-4, NeutrAvidin Protein soluble and coated on black 96-well plates, Biotinylated Pierce[™] Bovine serum albumin, and Invitrogen IL-8 Human ELISA Kit were all purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA, United States). Small molecule glycomimetic pan-selectin antagonist Rivipansel (GMI-1070) was provided by GlycoMimetics Inc. (Rockville, MD). Human LL-37 ELISA Kit was purchased from Novus biologicals (Centennial, CO). KIM-127 producing hybridoma cell line was purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA).

3.22 Patient demographics

Adults over the age of 18, who had been diagnosed with active plaque psoriasis by a dermatologist, were included in this study and consented through a University of California, Davis Institutional Review Board Protocol #1740034-5. Patients filled out a survey to self-report body surface area affected and prior/current treatment. Whole blood was obtained by

venipuncture and collected in 10 mL sodium heparin sterile tubes from psoriatic donors. Whole blood was similarly obtained from healthy donors consented through a University of California, Davis Institutional Review Board protocol (#235586-9).

Exclusion criteria included patients on biologics and patients with history of adverse reactions to venipuncture, hypotension, anaphylaxis anemia, hypotension, arrhythmia, bleeding diathesis, CNS, liver, kidney, or thyroid disease.

3.23 Human neutrophil isolation

Neutrophils were isolated from whole blood within 1 hour of collection using the EasySepTM direct human neutrophil isolation kit purchased (StemCell Technologies, Cambridge, MA) per manufacturer's instruction. Cells were spun down and resuspended in HBSS containing 0.1% human serum albumin without Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ (HBSS-/-). Neutrophil purity was >90% as determined on a Beckman Coulter Counter. Neutrophil suspensions at 1×10^7 cells/mL were kept on ice for no longer than 3 hours and subsequently rewarmed at 37°C in diluted HBSS buffer containing 1 mM Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ and 0.1% human serum albumin (HBSS+/+) unless otherwise specified.

3.24 Flow Cytometry Detection of Cell Surface Marker Expression

For detection of baseline expression of adhesion receptors, whole blood was diluted 1:4 in HBSS+/+ and stained with 0.2 ug/mL of LDS-751, a cell-permeant nucleic acid stain that has a peak excitation at ~543 nm on dsDNA (Thermo Fisher) as well as antibodies for high affinity β 2-integrin (mAb24), L-selectin (Dreg-56), CD11b (M1/70), and extended β 2-integrin (KIM127) for 20 min at 37°C in a thermomixer at 400 rpm. Cells were than fixed with 1% fixation buffer for 20 min at room temperature. Cells were then analyzed on a Attune NxT flow cytometer

(Thermofisher). Leukocytes were identified by thresholding on LDS-751 fluorescence and gated based upon characteristic forward scatter vs side scatter profile. Experiments characterizing TNF- α and S100A8/A9 activation of isolated neutrophils were performed at 1x10⁶ cells/mL in HBSS+/+ using the same incubation times and antibody labeling conditions detailed above.

<u>3.25 Elisa</u>

Plasma was prepared by centrifuging heparinized blood for 10 min at 1000xg. Plasma was then aliquoted and stored at -80°C until the day of analysis and thawed on ice. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA)s were performed according to manufactures instruction to quantify S100A8/A9, IL-8, and LL37 levels.

3.26 Calprotectin (S100A8/A9) secretion

Isolated neutrophils in suspension were treated with or without TNF-α (2pM or 1000pM) for 20 minutes at 37°C in a thermomixer at 400 rpm before centrifugation for 5 min at 500xg. Cell supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C until day of analysis using ELISA.

3.27 Glass coverslip functionalization

Glass coverslips were functionalized using a sequential incubation process with 3 washes of PBS between steps. Coverslips were first incubated with a 1 mg/ml solution of biotinylated BSA in PBS for 20 minutes. Next, they were treated with a 200 μ g/ml solution of neutravidin in PBS for 20 minutes, followed by a 50 μ g/ml solution of biotinylated protein G in PBS for 20 minutes. Coverslips were then incubated with a mixture of 1 μ g/ml E-selectin and 1 μ g/ml ICAM-1 overnight at 4°C. To minimize non-specific adhesion, the coverslips were then treated with 1% casein for 1 hour before washing with PBS and subsequent assembly of the microfluidic device.

3.28 Microfluidic Shear Flow Assay

Vascular mimetic flow chambers were utilized to record neutrophil rolling and arrest behavior on substrates of endothelial ligands under physiological shear stresses. Devices were fabricated as described previously (Morikis et al., 2022). Briefly, polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) flow chambers with dimensions $60 \ \mu m \times 2 \ mm \times 8 \ mm \ (h \times w \times 1)$ were produced by curing Sylgard 184 prepolymer (Dow Corning, Midland, MI, USA) over a patterned silicon wafer. Holes were punched into the PDMS for flow channel and vacuum port access and the device was reversibly vacuum sealed on a circular glass coverslips coated with E-selectin and ICAM-1.

Neutrophils at a concentration of 5×10^5 cells/ml were treated with CD11b and Fc blocking antibodies for 15 minutes at 37°C. Neutrophils were loaded into an open 100µl reservoir and drawn through the channel at a shear stress of 2 dynes/cm2 using a syringe pump. Rivipansel inhibition of E-selectin was performed by perfusing microfluidic channels during a 15-minute blocking step before neutrophil perfusion.

Neutrophil adhesion dynamics were analyzed on digital video recordings obtained using brightfield phase microscopy at 60 frames per minute for 4 minutes per field of view on an inverted microscope (Nikon 2000) using a phase contrast 20× objective and recorded with 16-bit digital complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) camera (Andor ZYLA) connected to a PC (Dell) with NIS Elements imaging software (Nikon Instruments Inc.). Arrested neutrophils were defined as those with velocity $<0.1 \mu m/s$.

3.29 Cytosolic Ca²⁺ flux

Isolated neutrophils at 1×10^6 cells/mL were loaded with the Ca²⁺ indicator Fluo-4 AM (1 μ g/mL) in HBSS -/- for 30 min at 37°C in the dark. Cell suspensions were then spun down and

resuspended at 1×10^7 cells/mL in HBSS-/- and incubated for 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature to allow cells to de-esterify. Cells were then sheared in microfluidic flow channels as described above. Fluorescence images were captured at the same frequency and on the same microscope setup as above. Fluorescence was quantified in individual cells that rolled to arrest using ImageJ software starting 10 seconds before cell arrest.

3.210 Reactive oxidant production

Neutravidin-coated 96-well plates were coated with ICAM-1-Fc (10 µg/ml) by coincubation with 100 µg/mL biotinylated Protein G in PBS for 2 hrs. Isolated neutrophils at a concentration of 1×10^6 cells/mL were treated with or without CD18 blocking antibody- IB4 (50µg/ml) for 15 min at room temperature. Next, 2×10^5 neutrophils were allowed to adhere to wells for 5 min with mechanical oscillation at 360 CPM before addition of PMA (10 ng/mL) and ROS indicator dihydrorhodamine 123 (2 µM). The ROS signal was then measured using a SynergyTM HT Multi-Mode Microplate Reader with peak levels reported at 120 minutes at 37°C.

3.211 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism, version 9.4.0, was used for all data analysis. Mann-Whitney U test was performed for comparing the nonparametric distributions of rolling to arrest time in Figure 2c. All other statistical comparisons were performed using Welch's t test.

	Psoriasis (n=14)	Healthy (n=10)
Age	61±14.2 (28-78 years)	33.2±15.0 (21-62
		years)
Sex	M=4, F=10	M=5, F=5
Disease severity	Mild: 1-9% n=9	NA
(% body surface	Moderate: 10-29% n= 3	
area involvement)	Severe: >30% n=2	

Table 3.1: Demographics of Psoriasis patients and Healthy control subjects

3.3 Psoriatic neutrophils are primed in circulation.

Fresh venous blood from psoriatic patients (Ps) and healthy controls (Hc) was collected under IRB protocol for functional studies (Table 3.1). Neutrophil priming through GPCR and TLR4 results in phenotypic changes in neutrophils that include upregulated Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) resultant of degranulation and decreased levels of L-selectin (CD62L) resultant of shedding (Miralda et al., 2017). Psoriatic neutrophils in diluted whole blood exhibited a primed phenotype with Mac-1 upregulated 150% and L-selectin decreased 25% relative to healthy subjects (Figure 3.1a-b). Priming of neutrophils also increases neutrophil adhesion which is mediated by β 2-integrins. A dual labeling scheme, with antibodies that detect the E+ conformation (KIM127) and the H+ conformation (mab24), was used to probe activation of CD18. Psoriatic neutrophils registered a ~200% upregulation in receptor expression of extendedintermediate state and a ~160% upshift of high affinity when compared to healthy neutrophils (Figure 3.1c-d).



Figure 3.1: Psoriatic neutrophils displayed a primed phenotype with modified adhesion marker expression. Expression level of a) CD11b, b) CD62, c) extended-intermediate (KIM127, E+), d) and high affinity CD18 (mAb24, H+) in Ps (n=14) vs Hc (n=10) neutrophils as measured by flow cytometry in diluted blood. The results are presented as the mean \pm SEM with significance between Ps and Hc samples denoted by **=p < 0.01 and ***=p < 0.001, respectively.

Flow cytometric analysis revealed that 79% of neutrophils from healthy samples occupied the (E-H-) quadrant, indicative that CD18 remained in the bent-quiescent state. In contrast, more than 50% of Ps neutrophils were present in (E-H+) and (E+H+) quadrants, indicative of adhesion competent high affinity CD18 (Figure 3.2a).

When comparing mild to moderate-severe plaque psoriasis patient neutrophils, there was

a significant 51% higher expression of high affinity CD18 in moderate-severe patients. The

extended conformation was 45% higher in moderate-severe patients compared to mild, but due to

the small sample size there was not enough power to reach significance (Figure 3.2b). These

results demonstrate that psoriatic neutrophils present with a primed phenotype characterized by changes in adhesion marker expression important in the neutrophil recruitment cascade.





3.4 Damp and cytokine biomarkers of neutrophil priming and activation

Having confirmed characteristic differences in receptor expression in psoriatic vs healthy

neutrophils we next explored the role of neutrophil activating cytokines (IL-8) and DAMPs

(S100A8/A9, LL-37) in neutrophil priming. S100A8/A9 levels were 96% higher in psoriatic versus healthy plasma as determined by ELISA (Figure 3.3A). A significant positive correlation between increased circulating calprotectin levels and an upshift in extended CD18 was observed for psoriatic, but not healthy neutrophils (Figure 3.3b). Similarly, II-8 was upregulated by ~92% in psoriatic vs healthy plasma (Figure 3.3c). The correlation between IL-8 levels and extended CD18 was slightly less than between S100A8/A9 and extended CD18 (Figure 3.3d). LL37 was also elevated 94% in psoriatic plasma compared to healthy, but unlike S100A8/A9 and IL-8, LL37 levels were not significantly correlated with the extent of CD18 activation (Figure 3.3e-f). These results suggest that S100A8/A9 and IL-8 may be priming neutrophils in circulation.



Figure 3.3: Plasma levels of DAMPs and cytokines correlate with integrin activation in psoriatic neutrophils. a) Plasma levels of S100A8/A9 in Ps (n=14) and Hc (n=10) detected by ELISA. b) Correlation plot of plasma S100A8/A9 versus extended-intermediate affinity CD18 expression detected in diluted whole blood from Ps (n=14) vs Hc (n=10), (R^2 = .42, .16). c) Plasma levels of Il-8 in Ps versus Hc detected by ELISA. d) Plasma IL-8 versus extended-intermediate affinity CD18 expression detected in diluted whole blood from Ps (n=14) vs Hc (n=10), (R^2 = .42, .16). c) Plasma levels of Il-8 in Ps versus Hc detected by ELISA. d) Plasma IL-8 versus extended-intermediate affinity CD18 expression detected in diluted whole blood from Ps versus Hc (R^2 = .38 versus, .02), p<0.05. e) Plasma levels of LL37 detected by ELISA. f) Correlation of plasma LL37 versus extended-intermediate affinity CD18 expression detected in diluted whole blood. All data Ps (n=14) vs Hc (n=10), (R^2 = .14 versus .10), no significance. Results for a, c, and e are presented as the mean ± SEM with significance between Ps and Hc samples denoted by *=p < 0.05, **=p < 0.01, and ***=p < 0.001, respectively.
3.5 Psoriatic neutrophils are sensitized to TNF-α but not IL-8

A key characteristic of primed neutrophils is increased sensitivity to a subsequent stimulus. Since IL-8 is thought to play a role in the recruitment of neutrophils to psoriatic plaques we evaluated the sensitivity of psoriatic neutrophils to stimulation with IL-8. At a threshold dose of stimulation with IL-8 (0.1nM), psoriatic neutrophils exhibited significantly higher integrin activation than healthy controls, but the percent upregulation from baseline was <40% and was not significantly different between psoriatic and healthy (Figure 3.4a). In fact, over the dose range of IL-8, psoriatic neutrophils exhibited lowered sensitivity to IL-8 stimulation characterized by a right shifted dose response with a higher half maximal effective concentration (EC50).

Activated keratinocytes produced multiple inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , a well-known target in psoriasis (Grine et al., 2015). Since TNF- α is key to psoriasis pathogenesis and is known to stimulate neutrophil integrin activation, we tested the sensitivity of psoriatic neutrophils to TNF- α . Ps neutrophils were highly sensitive to TNF- α stimulation resulting in a left shift in the EC50 for high affinity CD18 activation (Figure 3.4b). The largest difference between psoriasis and healthy control neutrophil activationwas seen at a concentration of 2pM TNF- α . This dose induced a 94% increase in high affinity CD18 over baseline in psoriasis compared to a 52% in healthy control. Thus, our data demonstrates that psoriatic neutrophils are primed for increased sensitivity to TNF- α stimulation but not IL-8 stimulation of integrin activation.



Figure 3.4: Psoriatic neutrophils are primed for increased sensitivity to TNF- α stimulation but not IL-8 stimulation. a) IL-8 stimulated expression of high affinity CD18 on neutrophils isolated from Ps (n=9) and Hc (n=5). b) TNF- α stimulated expression of high affinity CD18 on neutrophils isolated from Ps versus Hc (n=6 each). Asterisks denote statistical comparisons between Ps and Hc at the same concentrations of cytokine. Data is presented as the mean \pm SEM with significance between Ps and Hc samples denoted by *=p < 0.05 and **=p < 0.01, respectively.

3.6 Elevated neutrophil S100A8/A9 secretion in psoriasis

Previous reports have demonstrated that TNF- α , but not IL-8, can stimulate secretion of S100A8/A9 (Tardif et al., 2015). Since psoriatic neutrophils exhibited amplified TNF- α mediated integrin activation we assessed their capacity for TNF- α induced secretion of S100A8/A9.

At baseline psoriatic neutrophils secreted significantly more S10A8/A9 than healthy controls and stimulation of psoriatic neutrophils with 2 pM TNF- α induced 128% more secretion of S100A8/A9 than healthy control neutrophils (Figure 3.5a). At 1µM TNF- α secretion in psoriatic neutrophils only slightly increased from 2pM. While 1µM TNF- α induced 61% more secretion of S100A8/A9 than 2pM in healthy neutrophils, the secretion of S100A8/A9 in healthy neutrophils at 1µM TNF- α was still significantly smaller than psoriatic neutrophils at the same dose and was not significantly different from the secretion in psoriatic neutrophils at 2pM. This demonstrates much greater capacity of psoriatic neutrophils to secrete S100A8/A9.

To assess the role of calprotectin in priming Ps neutrophils for enhanced sensitivity to TNF- α , isolated neutrophils were treated with calprotectin and assessed for CD18 activation. Consistent with the level of CD18 activation in isolated Ps neutrophils, Hc neutrophils were primed in suspension by exogenous calprotectin (Fig 3.5b). In contrast, Ps neutrophils were refractory to CD18 activation with recombinant calprotectin above baseline but retained the high sensitivity to stimulation with TNF- α . Moreover, Hc neutrophils were synergistically activated by priming with calprotectin for enhanced stimulation by low dose TNF- α , whereas Ps neutrophils were refractory, suggesting that the latter are already primed in circulation for enhanced inflammatory response.



Figure 3.5: S100A8/A9 secretion is elevated in Ps neutrophils and primes TNF- α stimulated integrin activation. a) S100A8/A9 secretion in isolated neutrophil suspensions stimulated in the presence and absence of TNF- α , as noted (Ps n=5, Hc n=5). b) High affinity CD18 at baseline expressed as mean fluorescence intensity of mAb24 followed by the fractional increase from baseline MFI in isolated neutrophils incubated with recombinant S100A8/A9 (3µg/mL) in the presence and absence of TNF- α (2pM) stimulation (Ps versus Hc n=5 each). Data is presented as the mean ± SEM with significance denoted by *=p < 0.05.

3.7 Amplified neutrophil arrest efficiency in psoriasis

We next gauged the capacity for inflammatory recruitment and activation by digitally recording neutrophils perfused through vascular mimetic microfluidic channels coated with E-selectin and ICAM-1 (Figure 3.6a). Neutrophil rolling on E-selectin is supported by tension on L-selectin bond clusters that mechanosignal CD18 activation sufficient for transition to shear-resistant arrest via bond formation with ICAM-1 (Morikis et al., 2017).Consistent with the higher fraction of primed neutrophils expressing extended-intermediate affinity CD18, psoriatic neutrophils exhibited markedly slower average rolling velocity and arrested in half the time as healthy samples (Figure 3.6b-c). A direct correlation was observed between the fraction of neutrophils expressing high affinity CD18 and arrest efficiency, which averaged 60% for psoriatic compared with 30% for healthy subjects (Figure 3.6d).

To gauge the contribution of L-selectin mechanosignaling to the 1-fold higher arrest efficiency of psoriatic neutrophils, microfluidic channels were pretreated with Rivipansel, a glycomimetic antagonist that binds tightly to the lectin domain of E-selectin thereby inhibiting recognition of sLex on L-selectin (Morikis et al., 2017). Rivipansel abrogated arrest to background levels in healthy neutrophils, whereas arrest of psoriatic neutrophils was inhibited ~50% in a dose dependent manner (Figure 3.6e). The residual E-selectin/L-selectin independent arrest efficiency is consistent with the higher fraction of psoriatic neutrophils that express elevated levels of activated CD18. These data reveal that Ps neutrophils are primed for enhanced CD18 dependent arrest that is amplified by L-selectin mechanotransduction.



Figure 3.6: Psoriatic neutrophils recruit more efficiently than healthy neutrophils. a) Timelapse series of brightfield images showing representative psoriatic (Ps) and healthy control (Hc) neutrophils rolling to arrest in microfluidic channels. b) Neutrophil rolling velocity (quantified from 10 cells from 2 fields of view from Ps n=10, Hc n=10 separate experiments. c) Cumulative plot of the duration from rolling to arrest. Dashed line denotes the median time for arrest Ps t1/2 ~ 22 sec and Hc t1/2 ~ 39, p<.001. d) Correlation of neutrophil fraction expressing activated CD18 (E+H+) versus arrest efficiency for Ps versus Hc (n=10 each) (R² = .44, .32), p<0.05. e) Neutrophil arrest efficiency at baseline and dose dependent inhibition by pretreatment with Rivipansel (Ps versus Hc n≥6 each per condition). Results for b and e are presented as the mean ± SEM with significance between Ps and Hc samples denoted by *=p < 0.05, **=p < 0.01, and ***=p < 0.001, respectively.



3.8 Psoriatic neutrophils are primed for mechanosignaling of Ca²⁺ flux and Ros production

Figure 3.7: Psoriatic neutrophils are primed for mechanosignaling of Ca²⁺ flux and ROS production. a) Cytosolic Ca²⁺ flux during neutrophil rolling to arrest depicted (Ps versus Hc n=6 each). Statistical comparisons show significantly higher mean Fluo-4 fluorescence for Ps versus Hc at arrest-10 sec and peak flux- 30 sec. b) Ros production in neutrophils adhered to ICAM-1 coated wells at baseline with/out anti-CD18 (IB4) blocking and in presence of b) E-selectin-Fc (10µg/ml), c) TNF- α (500pM), d) and fMLP (1µM) stimulation (Ps n≥5 versus Hc n≥6 each per condition). Data is presented as the mean ± SEM with significance denoted by *=p < 0.05 and **=p < 0.01, respectively.

A faithful measure of neutrophil activation during rolling via E-selectin/L-selectin and arrest via β 2-integrin/ICAM-1 bond formation is Ca²⁺ influx, which catalyzes the transition to

transendothelial migration (Schaff et al., 2010). Psoriatic neutrophils registered a higher baseline and more rapid rise to an elevated peak level of cytosolic Ca^{2+} (Fig 2e).

Exuberant ROS production following neutrophil recruitment exacerbates inflammation in skin lesions (Wroński et al., 2022). Additionally, increased calcium flux in primed neutrophils is known to amplify ROS production. This motivated assessing the contributions of selectin and integrin mechanosignaling on ROS production during neutrophil adhesion under shear stress.

At baseline, psoriatic neutrophils were 26% more adherent to ICAM-1 resulting in 30% more CD18 dependent ROS production (Fig 2g). Like arrest efficiency, E-selectin ligation of L-selectin doubled ROS production in both cohorts, however, psoriatic neutrophils retained a residual capacity to produce oxidant even when CD18/ICAM-1 mediated adhesion was blocked with antibody.

It has been previously reported that TNF- α is unable to induce strong ROS production in quiescent neutrophils in suspension. Expectedly, when blocking integrin mediated adhesion healthy neutrophils stimulated with TNF- α did not induce ROS production (Figure 2c). In contrast psoriatic neutrophils were able to produce large amounts of ROS when stimulated with TNF- α even in the absence of integrin mediated adhesion providing further evidence of priming in psoriatic neutrophils.

The bacterial tripeptide fMLP is a potent activator of ROS and is a quintessential second activator in priming studies. In the presence and absence of CD18 blocking, psoriatic neutrophil produced ~44% more ROS when stimulated with fMLP in comparison to healthy controls.

These results demonstrate that psoriatic neutrophils are primed for increase ROS production when stimulated with a variety of activators in the absence of adhesion. Adherence of

neutrophils through integrin resulted in even greater increases in ROS production and psoriatic neutrophils showed greater capacity to mechanosignal ROS production.

3.9 Discussion

In summary, psoriatic neutrophils in blood display a primed phenotype characterized by elevated β 2-integrin receptor number and binding affinity that rose with calprotectin levels. Transition from rolling to arrest on E-selectin and ICAM-1 was twice as efficient for psoriatic neutrophils, which fluxed more Ca²⁺ and produced more ROS than healthy. Psoriatic neutrophils were exquisitely sensitive to ex vivo stimulation with TNF- α that elicited secretion of calprotectin and synergistically amplified CD18 activation. Given the large vascular surface area that perfuses the skin, we speculate that surveilling neutrophils rolling via E-selectin are a major contributor to elevated calprotectin in psoriatic circulation (Figure 3.8). In conclusion, measurable elevation in the capacity for neutrophil β 2-integrin adhesion and effector function may provide a reliable biomarker to predict disease progression and the efficacy of biological therapy in controlling cutaneous inflammation in psoriasis.



Figure 3.8: Psoriatic neutrophil priming schematic. Schematic depicting neutrophil priming through TLR4 detection of S100A8/A9 for enhanced E-selectin and β 2-integrin dependent recruitment and amplified ROS production within inflamed tissue created with BioRender.com.

Chapter 4 Summary and future directions

The idea that neutrophils are merely homogenous automatous cells has shifted over time as it becomes increasingly clear that their inflammatory response is regulated by a complex interplay of synergistic signaling through a variety of adhesion receptors and pattern recognition receptors that bind endogenous and foreign ligands. Interaction with foreign materials and therapeutics as well as continued exposure to inflammatory agents during chronic inflammation can disturb the tight balance that limits neutrophil recruitment and function to avoid tissue damage. In this dissertation we examined how the iron oxide nanoparticle therapeutic Feraheme effected neutrophil recruitment and effector function. Similarly, we investigated the role that the DAMP S100A8/A9 and cytokines IL-8 and TNFa play in priming psoriatic neutrophils.

Feraheme exhibited immunosuppressive effects on human neutrophils. Feraheme inhibited IL-8 induced changes in neutrophil adhesion receptor expression, reduced neutrophil recruitment capacity, reduced ROS production, and led to rapid sequestration of calcium flux after IL-8 stimulation. Sustained elevations of calcium are vital for all the neutrophil inflammatory responses that were inhibited by Feraheme. Thus, we postulate that the rapid sequestration of calcium is the mechanism by which Feraheme inhibits neutrophil function. Feraheme is a widely used drug for IDA patients and off label uses for diagnostics and therapeutics has been the focus of considerable research. Due to the immunosuppressive effects observed in our research, examining whether Feraheme may impair immune responses to infection or sterile tissue insult in patients receiving novel Feraheme exposure regiments is advisable. Alternatively, Feraheme may have promise as an immunosuppressive therapy for chronic inflammation as has been shown in one study where topical application of Feraheme was used in a psoriatic mouse model.

In contrast to the inhibitory effects of Feraheme, we describe how circulating S100A8/A9 and IL-8 correlated with a primed neutrophil phenotype in psoriasis. Psoriatic neutrophils had increased integrin expression and activation levels as well as lower CD62L due to membrane shedding during degranulation. Psoriatic neutrophils also exhibited an exquisite sensitivity to TNF α mediated integrin activation that coincided with S100A8/A9 secretion. The increased integrin activation correlated with increased recruitment efficiency and increased mechaosignaling of calcium and ROS. Determining the relative importance of the variety of circulating DAMPs and cytokines priming neutrophils in psoriasis and other chronic inflammatory conditions could provide key targets for the development of novel antiinflammatory treatments. The role of S100A8/A9 in psoriasis as a predictor of disease severity suggests that it may also play a primary role in disease progression. Our findings provide evidence that circulating S100A8/A9 is predictive of neutrophil integrin activation in psoriasis and indicates that neutrophils may be important contributors to the elevated circulating levels of S100A8/A9. Targeting of neutrophil release of S100A8/A9 potentially though inhibition of inflammasome activation could be a target for novel psoriatic therapeutics.

4.1: Future directions for elucidating the mechanism of Feraheme inhibition of neutrophil inflammatory responses

The rapid sequestration of calcium in neutrophils exposed to Feraheme is a novel mechanism of neutrophil inhibition by iron oxide nanoparticles and further investigation of the underlying pathways would be the next step for building on this research. The sequestration of calcium back into the ER after GPCR stimulated release of ER stores is mediated by adenylyl cyclase activation of cAMP production. Downstream cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (PKA) leads to accelerated sequestration of calcium through PKA-activated endo-membrane Ca²⁺-ATPases. The

adenosine A2A receptor agonist CGS 21680 (CGS) induces rapid Ca^{2+} sequestration through activation of adenylyl cyclase and may serve as an important regulator of inflammation. The non-additive effects between Feraheme and CGS suggests a shared downstream mechanism for the accelerated clearance of Ca^{2+} . We propose that Feraheme may induce sequestration of calcium through activation of endo-membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPases rather than by efflux of calcium through activation of plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -pump, the proposed mechanism of action for CGS.

A logical next step would be to determine if incubation of neutrophils with Feraheme induces increases in the levels of cAMP or PKA. Additionally, experiments using pharmacological inhibitors of PKA could determine if Feraheme mediated inhibition is PKA dependent.

Contrary to our findings, others have reported pro-inflammatory effects of several iron oxide nanoparticle formulations on neutrophil function including polyacrylic acid-coated and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) /poly(ethylene glycol) coated particles (Couto et al., 2014). Thus, comparing the effects of Feraheme to other iron oxide nanoparticles with a variety of coatings and correlating this with neutrophil activation could elucidate the mechanism by which Feraheme results in diminished inflammation.

Chapter 4.2: Future directions for elucidating the intracellular signaling modalities that mediate neutrophil priming in psoriasis

One of the key findings of our work is that psoriatic neutrophils are primed for amplified response to TNFα mediated integrin activation and S100A8/A9 secretion. During completion of the studies in this dissertation the mechanisms controlling S100A8/A9 release from neutrophils was ill defined, but a recent study has elucidated an NLRP3 inflammasome complex mediated mechanism for secretion of S100A8/A9 from neutrophils upon ligation of E-selectin (Pruenster

et al., 2023). The authors showed that E-selectin engagement triggers two concomitant pathways: BTK dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of NLRP3 and potassium efflux via the voltage-gated potassium channel KV1.3 dependent Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC) oligomerization. Once activated ASC and NLRP3 form the NLRP3 inflammasome complex elicit Caspase 1 cleavage and downstream activation of pore-forming gasdermin D. Formation of Gasdermin D pores on the cell membrane enable cytosolic release of S100A8/A9 but does not result in cell death as pores are sealed by the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport III membrane repair machinery. Another study from this group shows that other NLRP3 activating agents also induce S100A8/A9 secretion through the NLRP3/gasdermin D axis (Jorch et al., 2023). TNF- α is a known NLPR-3 activator and studies have shown that psoriatic neutrophils are sensitized for NLRP3 activation by TNF-α. The results of these studies and our findings together point to a potential role of increased inflammasome activation mediated calprotectin release in amplifying neutrophil recruitment in psoriatic inflammation. Future studies to build on this work should focus on linking inflammasome activation, S100A8/A9 release, and integrin activation in psoriasis.

We expect that psoriatic neutrophils are more prone to inflammasome activation and pore formation that results in increased release of S100A8/A9 and downstream integrin activation. Studies that link inflammasome mediated pore formation with S100A8/A9 secretion and subsequent integrin activation via TLR4 signaling during rolling on E-selectin expressing skin microvasculature would greatly elucidate the mechanism for enhanced neutrophil recruitment in psoriasis.

Inhibitors of NLRP3 or potassium channels can be utilized to inhibit pore formation and elucidate the importance of S100A8/A9 release on the amplified recruitment efficiency observed

in psoriatic neutrophils. Another potential avenue for interrogating the role of S100A8/A9 in mediating neutrophil activation in chronic inflammation is using direct inhibitors of TLR4 signaling or small molecules that prevent S100A8/A9 binding to TLR4. Determining whether blocking of S100A8/A9 binding to TLR4 abrogates arrest to a greater extent in psoriasis than healthy neutrophils would point to a potential role in psoriasis pathogenesis.

Priming of neutrophils induces phenotypic changes not only in adhesion receptor expression, but in activation and complexing of intracellular signaling molecules associated with transcriptional activity. Our study reported a primed neutrophil phenotype in psoriasis that is correlated with S100A8/A9, but measurements of downstream signaling molecules that could clearly demonstrate activation of pathways through TLR4 in primed neutrophils are a key next step. The intracellular signaling downstream of S100A8/A9 is not well elucidated, but as it binds to the TLR4 receptor it likely shares some signaling pathways with LPS and other TLR4 ligands known to prime neutrophils for enhanced inflammatory response. Key targets for analysis would be differential activation of PKC, ERK1/2, JNK, and P38-MAPK which are upregulated to different extents during exposure to priming agents. Nuclear translocation of NF- κ B and activation of the JAK/STAT pathway are also faithful markers of transcriptional pathways upregulated by TNF α and S100A8/A9.

Another approach for elucidating the priming phenotype associated with psoriasis would be using mRNA sequencing of transcriptional activation. Previous, studies using mRNA sequencing have illustrated differences in transcriptional activation in response to GM-CSF versus TNF- α (Wright et al., 2013). Comparing mRNA sequence of healthy neutrophils treated with priming agents prevalent in psoriasis with psoriatic neutrophils could provide reveal whether priming via S100A8/A9 and enhanced activation via TNFa is unique compared with other cytokines such as

IL-38 and IL-23 associated with psoriasis. Comparisons with atopic dermatitis, another inflammatory skin disease, could be used to discriminate disease-specific neutrophil phenotypes, as previously shown for COVID mediated ARDS (Panda et al., 2022).

Another novel aspect of this work is the demonstrated increased capacity for psoriatic neutrophils to mechanosignal calcium flux and amplified production of ROS. While priming is known to increase adhesive capacity of neutrophils there is limited research on how priming amplifies mechanosignaling and there are no current therapies designed to modulate mechanosignaling pathways while maintaining the necessary recruitment of neutrophils via selectin and integrin adhesion receptor function. Understanding the signaling pathways by which circulating DAMPs and cytokines in inflammation may mediate priming of mechanosignaling is a promising future direction and could provide a novel target to control inappropriate neutrophil recruitment to inflamed skin. Experiments should be focused on determining if psoriatic neutrophils exhibit a discernable pattern of priming starting from the complexing of adaptor proteins such as kindlin-3 at the integrin cytosolic tail. Further modulations in downstream phospholipases and kinases that promote calcium channel reorganization on the plasma membrane is of interest.

References

- Adams, J. M., Hauser, C. J., Livingston, D. H., Lavery, R. F., Fekete, Z., & Deitch, E. A. (2001). Early trauma polymorphonuclear neutrophil responses to chemokines are associated with development of sepsis, pneumonia, and organ failure. *Journal of Trauma - Injury, Infection* and Critical Care, 51(3). https://doi.org/10.1097/00005373-200109000-00005
- Albanesi, C., Madonna, S., Gisondi, P., & Girolomoni, G. (2018). The interplay between keratinocytes and immune cells in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 9, Issue JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01549
- Amulic, B., Cazalet, C., Hayes, G. L., Metzler, K. D., & Zychlinsky, A. (2012). Neutrophil function: From mechanisms to disease. In *Annual Review of Immunology* (Vol. 30). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074942
- Anderson, R., Visser, S. S., Ramafi, G., & Theron, A. J. (2000). Accelerated resequestration of cytosolic calcium and suppression of the pro-inflammatory activities of human neutrophils by CGS 21680 in vitro. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 130(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0703344
- Arican, O., Aral, M., Sasmaz, S., & Ciragil, P. (2005). Serum levels of TNF-α, IFN-γ, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, IL-17, and IL-18 in patients with active psoriasis and correlation with disease severity. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2005(5). https://doi.org/10.1155/MI.2005.273
- Arnaout, M. A. (1990). Structure and function of the leukocyte adhesion molecules CD11/CD18. *Blood*.
- Arnaout, M. A. (2016). Biology and structure of leukocyte β2integrins and their role in inflammation. *F1000Research*, 5. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.9415.1
- Babin, K., Antoine, F., Goncalves, D. M., & Girard, D. (2013). TiO2, CeO2 and ZnO nanoparticles and modulation of the degranulation process in human neutrophils. *Toxicology Letters*, 221(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2013.05.010
- Barbero, F., Russo, L., Vitali, M., Piella, J., Salvo, I., Borrajo, M. L., Busquets-Fité, M., Grandori, R., Bastús, N. G., Casals, E., & Puntes, V. (2017). Formation of the Protein Corona: The Interface between Nanoparticles and the Immune System. In *Seminars in Immunology* (Vol. 34). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2017.10.001
- Bednarczyk, M., Stege, H., Grabbe, S., & Bros, M. (2020). β2 Integrins—Multi-Functional Leukocyte Receptors in Health and Disease. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 21, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21041402
- Berg, A. R., Hong, C. G., Svirydava, M., Li, H., Parel, P. M., Florida, E., O'Hagan, R., Pantoja, C. J., Lateef, S. S., Anzenberg, P., Harrington, C. L., Ward, G., Zhou, W., Sorokin, A. V., Chen, M. Y., Teague, H. L., Buckler, A. J., Playford, M. P., Gelfand, J. M., & Mehta, N. N. (2022). Association of S100A8/A9 with Lipid-Rich Necrotic Core and Treatment with

Biologic Therapy in Patients with Psoriasis: Results from an Observational Cohort Study. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *142*(11). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2022.05.1085

- Bevilacqua, M., Butcher, E., Furie, B., Furie, B., Gallatin, M., Gimbrone, M., Harlan, J.,
 Kishimoto, K., Lasky, L., McEver, R., Paulson, J., Rosen, S., Seed, B., Siegelman, M.,
 Springer, T., Stoolman, L., Tedder, T., Varki, A., Wagner, D., ... Zimmerman, G. (1991).
 Selectins: A family of adhesion receptors. In *Cell* (Vol. 67, Issue 2).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90174-W
- Bilyy, R., Unterweger, H., Weigel, B., Dumych, T., Paryzhak, S., Vovk, V., Liao, Z., Alexiou, C., Herrmann, M., & Janko, C. (2018). Inert coats of magnetic nanoparticles prevent formation of occlusive intravascular co-aggregates with neutrophil extracellular traps. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02266
- Block, H., Herter, J. M., Rossaint, J., Stadtmann, A., Kliche, S., Lowell, C. A., & Zarbock, A. (2012). Crucial role of SLP-76 and ADAP for neutrophil recruitment in mouse kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 209(2). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20111493
- Bobo, D., Robinson, K. J., Islam, J., Thurecht, K. J., & Corrie, S. R. (2016). Nanoparticle-Based Medicines: A Review of FDA-Approved Materials and Clinical Trials to Date. In *Pharmaceutical Research* (Vol. 33, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1958-5
- Boras, M., Volmering, S., Bokemeyer, A., Rossaint, J., Block, H., Bardel, B., Van Marck, V., Heitplatz, B., Kliche, S., Reinhold, A., Lowell, C., & Zarbock, A. (2017). Skap2 is required for β2 integrin-mediated neutrophil recruitment and functions. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *214*(3). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20160647
- Bouti, P., Webbers, S. D. S., Fagerholm, S. C., Alon, R., Moser, M., Matlung, H. L., & Kuijpers, T. W. (2021). β2 Integrin Signaling Cascade in Neutrophils: More Than a Single Function. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.619925
- Bradley, J. R. (2008). TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. In *Journal of Pathology* (Vol. 214, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1002/path.2287
- Bréchard, S., Bueb, J. L., & Tschirhart, E. J. (2005). Interleukin-8 primes oxidative burst in neutrophil-like HL-60 through changes in cytosolic calcium. *Cell Calcium*, 37(6), 531–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2005.01.019
- Bromberger, T., Klapproth, S., Rohwedder, I., Weber, J., Pick, R., Mittmann, L., Min-Weißenhorn, S. J., Reichel, C. A., Scheiermann, C., Sperandio, M., & Moser, M. (2021).
 Binding of Rap1 and Riam to Talin1 Fine-Tune β2 Integrin Activity During Leukocyte Trafficking. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.702345
- Bu, W., Levitskaya, Z., Loh, Z. Y., Jin, S., Basu, S., Ero, R., Yan, X., Wang, M., Ngan, S. F. C., Sze, S. K., Tan, S. M., & Gao, Y. G. (2020). Structural basis of human full-length kindlin-3 homotrimer in an auto-inhibited state. *PLoS Biology*, 18(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000755

- Calderwood, D. A., Yan, B., De Pereda, J. M., Alvarez, B. G., Fujioka, Y., Liddington, R. C., & Ginsberg, M. H. (2002). The phosphotyrosine binding-like domain of talin activates integrins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(24). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111996200
- Cappenberg, A., Kardell, M., & Zarbock, A. (2022). Selectin-Mediated Signaling—Shedding Light on the Regulation of Integrin Activity in Neutrophils. In *Cells* (Vol. 11, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11081310
- Cappenberg, A., Margraf, A., Thomas, K., Bardel, B., McCreedy, D. A., Van Marck, V., Mellmann, A., Lowell, C. A., & Zarbock, A. (2019). L-selectin shedding affects bacterial clearance in the lung: A new regulatory pathway for integrin outside-in signaling. *Blood*, *134*(17). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2019000685
- Cesaro, A., Anceriz, N., Plante, A., Pagé, N., Tardif, M. R., & Tessier, P. A. (2012). An Inflammation Loop Orchestrated by S100A9 and Calprotectin Is Critical for Development of Arthritis. *PLOS ONE*, 7(9), e45478. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0045478
- Chiang, C. C., Cheng, W. J., Korinek, M., Lin, C. Y., & Hwang, T. L. (2019). Neutrophils in Psoriasis. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 10, p. 2376). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02376
- Coimbra, S., Figueiredo, A., Castro, E., Rocha-Pereira, P., & Santos-Silva, A. (2012). The roles of cells and cytokines in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. In *International Journal of Dermatology* (Vol. 51, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-4632.2011.05154.x
- Condliffe, A. M., Chilvers, E. R., Haslett, C., & Dransfield, I. (1996). Priming differentially regulates neutrophil adhesion molecule expression/function. *Immunology*, 89(1). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2567.1996.d01-711.x
- Condliffe, A. M., Kitchen, E., & Chilvers, E. R. (1998). Neutrophil priming: Pathophysiological consequences and underlying mechanisms. In *Clinical Science* (Vol. 94, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1042/cs0940461
- Couto, D., Freitas, M., Vilas-Boas, V., Dias, I., Porto, G., Lopez-Quintela, M. A., Rivas, J., Freitas, P., Carvalho, F., & Fernandes, E. (2014). Interaction of polyacrylic acid coated and non-coated iron oxide nanoparticles with human neutrophils. *Toxicology Letters*, 225(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2013.11.020
- Coyne, D. W. (2009). Ferumoxytol for treatment of iron deficiency anemia in patients with chronic kidney disease. In *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy* (Vol. 10, Issue 15). https://doi.org/10.1517/14656560903224998
- Dadfar, S. M., Roemhild, K., Drude, N. I., von Stillfried, S., Knüchel, R., Kiessling, F., & Lammers, T. (2019). Iron oxide nanoparticles: Diagnostic, therapeutic and theranostic applications. In Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews (Vol. 138). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2019.01.005

- Daniels, R. H., Finnen, M. J., Hill, M. E., & Lackie, J. M. (1992). Recombinant human monocyte IL-8 primes NADPH-oxidase and phospholipase A2 activation in human neutrophils. *Immunology*, 75(1).
- Davies-Cox, E. V., Laffafian, I., & Hallett, M. B. (2001). Control of Ca2+ influx in human neutrophils by inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3) binding: Differential effects of microinjected IP3 receptor antagonists. *Biochemical Journal*, 355(1). https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3550139
- Del Fresno, C., Saz-Leal, P., Enamorado, M., Wculek, S. K., Martínez-Cano, S., Blanco-Menéndez, N., Schulz, O., Gallizioli, M., Miró-Mur, F., Cano, E., Planas, A., & Sancho, D. (2018). DNGR-1 in dendritic cells limits tissue damage by dampening neutrophil recruitment. *Science*, *362*(6412). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan8423
- Demaurex, N., & Saul, S. (2018). The role of STIM proteins in neutrophil functions. In *Journal* of *Physiology* (Vol. 596, Issue 14). https://doi.org/10.1113/JP275639
- Dennison, D., Al Khabori, M., Al Mamari, S., Aurelio, A., Al Hinai, H., Al Maamari, K., Alshekaili, J., & Al Khadouri, G. (2021). Circulating activated neutrophils in COVID-19: An independent predictor for mechanical ventilation and death. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2021.03.066
- Denny, M. F., Yalavarthi, S., Zhao, W., Thacker, S. G., Anderson, M., Sandy, A. R., McCune, W. J., & Kaplan, M. J. (2010). A Distinct Subset of Proinflammatory Neutrophils Isolated from Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Induces Vascular Damage and Synthesizes Type I IFNs. *The Journal of Immunology*, 184(6). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0902199
- Diebold, B. A., & Bokoch, G. M. (2001). Molecular basis for Rac2 regulation of phagocyte NADPH oxidase. *Nature Immunology*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/85259
- Dixit, N., Kim, M.-H., Rossaint, J., Yamayoshi, I., Zarbock, A., & Simon, S. I. (2012). Leukocyte Function Antigen-1, Kindlin-3, and Calcium Flux Orchestrate Neutrophil Recruitment during Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 189(12). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1201638
- Dixit, N., Yamayoshi, I., Nazarian, A., & Simon, S. I. (2011). Migrational Guidance of Neutrophils Is Mechanotransduced via High-Affinity LFA-1 and Calcium Flux. *The Journal of Immunology*, 187(1). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1004197
- Dominical, V. M., Bértolo, M. B., Almeida, C. B., Garrido, V. T., Miguel, L. I., Costa, F. F., & Conran, N. (2011). Neutrophils of Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients on Anti-TNF-α Therapy and in Disease Remission Present Reduced Adhesive Functions in Association with Decreased Circulating Neutrophil-Attractant Chemokine Levels. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 73(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02503.x
- Donato, R. (2001). S100: A multigenic family of calcium-modulated proteins of the EF-hand type with intracellular and extracellular functional roles. In *International Journal of*

Biochemistry and Cell Biology (Vol. 33, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.1016/S1357-2725(01)00046-2

- El-Benna, J., Hurtado-Nedelec, M., Marzaioli, V., Marie, J. C., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M. A., & Dang, P. M. C. (2016). Priming of the neutrophil respiratory burst: role in host defense and inflammation. In *Immunological Reviews* (Vol. 273, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12447
- Elbim, C., Bailly, S., Chollet-Martin, S., Hakim, J., & Gougerot-Pocidalo, M. A. (1994).
 Differential priming effects of proinflammatory cytokines on human neutrophil oxidative burst in response to bacterial N-formyl peptides. *Infection and Immunity*, 62(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.62.6.2195-2201.1994
- Etzioni, A., Frydman, M., Pollack, S., Avidor, I., Phillips, M. L., Paulson, J. C., & Gershoni-Baruch, R. (1992). Recurrent Severe Infections Caused by a Novel Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 327(25). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199212173272505
- Fabisiak, A., Murawska, N., & Fichna, J. (2016). LL-37: Cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide with pleiotropic activity. In *Pharmacological Reports* (Vol. 68, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharep.2016.03.015
- Fan, Z., McArdle, S., Marki, A., Mikulski, Z., Gutierrez, E., Engelhardt, B., Deutsch, U., Ginsberg, M., Groisman, A., & Ley, K. (2016). Neutrophil recruitment limited by highaffinity bent β2 integrin binding ligand in cis. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12658
- Fine, N., Barzilay, O., Sun, C., Wellappuli, N., Tanwir, F., Chadwick, J. W., Oveisi, M., Tasevski, N., Prescott, D., Gargan, M., Philpott, D. J., Dror, Y., & Glogauer, M. (2019).
 Primed PMNs in healthy mouse and human circulation are first responders during acute inflammation. *Blood Advances*, *3*(10). https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018030585
- Foster, G. A., Gower, R. M., Stanhope, K. L., Havel, P. J., Simon, S. I., & Armstrong, E. J. (2013). On-chip phenotypic analysis of inflammatory monocytes in atherogenesis and myocardial infarction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(34). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1300651110
- Frasca, L., & Lande, R. (2012). Role of Defensins and Cathelicidin LL37 in Auto-Immune and Auto- Inflammatory Diseases. *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*, 13(10). https://doi.org/10.2174/138920112802273155
- Fromen, C. A., Kelley, W. J., Fish, M. B., Adili, R., Noble, J., Hoenerhoff, M. J., Holinstat, M., & Eniola-Adefeso, O. (2017). Neutrophil-Particle Interactions in Blood Circulation Drive Particle Clearance and Alter Neutrophil Responses in Acute Inflammation. ACS Nano, 11(11). https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.7b03190
- Fuentes-Duculan, J., Bonifacio, K. M., Hawkes, J. E., Kunjravia, N., Cueto, I., Li, X., Gonzalez, J., Garcet, S., & Krueger, J. G. (2017). Autoantigens ADAMTSL5 and LL37 are

significantly upregulated in active Psoriasis and localized with keratinocytes, dendritic cells and other leukocytes. *Experimental Dermatology*, 26(11). https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.13378

- Futosi, K., Fodor, S., & Mócsai, A. (2013). Neutrophil cell surface receptors and their intracellular signal transduction pathways. *International Immunopharmacology*, 17(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2013.06.034
- Gaharwar, U. S., & R, P. (2015). Iron Oxide Nanoparticles Induced Oxidative Damage in Peripheral Blood Cells of Rat. *Journal of Biomedical Science and Engineering*, *08*(04). https://doi.org/10.4236/jbise.2015.84026
- Gillitzer, R., Berger, R., Mielke, V., Müller, C., Wolff, K., & Stingl, G. (1991). Upper keratinocytes of psoriatic skin lesions express high levels of NAP-1 /IL-8 mRNA in situ. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 97(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.ep12478128
- Gingras, A. R., Lagarrigue, F., Cuevas, M. N., Valadez, A. J., Zorovich, M., McLaughlin, W., Lopez-Ramirez, M. A., Seban, N., Ley, K., Kiosses, W. B., & Ginsberg, M. H. (2019).
 Rap1 binding and a lipid-dependent helix in talin F1 domain promote integrin activation in tandem. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 218(6). https://doi.org/10.1083/JCB.201810061
- Goksoy, E., Ma, Y. Q., Wang, X., Kong, X., Perera, D., Plow, E. F., & Qin, J. (2008). Structural Basis for the Autoinhibition of Talin in Regulating Integrin Activation. *Molecular Cell*, 31(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.06.011
- Guérard, S., Allaeys, I., Martin, G., Pouliot, R., & Poubelle, P. E. (2013). Psoriatic keratinocytes prime neutrophils for an overproduction of superoxide anions. *Archives of Dermatological Research*, *305*(10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00403-013-1404-z
- Guichard, C., Pedruzzi, E., Dewas, C., Fay, M., Pouzet, C., Bens, M., Vandewalle, A., Ogier-Denis, E., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M. A., & Elbim, C. (2005). Interleukin-8-induced priming of neutrophil oxidative burst requires sequential recruitment of NADPH oxidase components into lipid rafts. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(44). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M506594200
- Gustafson, H. H., Holt-Casper, D., Grainger, D. W., & Ghandehari, H. (2015). Nanoparticle uptake: The phagocyte problem. In *Nano Today* (Vol. 10, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2015.06.006
- Harada, A., Sekido, N., Akahoshi, T., Wada, T., Mukaida, N., & Matsushima, K. (1994). Essential involvement of interleukin-8 (IL-8) in acute inflammation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 56(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.56.5.559
- Heidenreich, R., Röcken, M., & Ghoreschi, K. (2009). Angiogenesis drives psoriasis pathogenesis. In *International Journal of Experimental Pathology* (Vol. 90, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2613.2009.00669.x
- Herster, F., Bittner, Z., Archer, N. K., Dickhöfer, S., Eisel, D., Eigenbrod, T., Knorpp, T., Schneiderhan-Marra, N., Löffler, M. W., Kalbacher, H., Vierbuchen, T., Heine, H., Miller,

L. S., Hartl, D., Freund, L., Schäkel, K., Heister, M., Ghoreschi, K., & Weber, A. N. R. (2020). Neutrophil extracellular trap-associated RNA and LL37 enable self-amplifying inflammation in psoriasis. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13756-4

- Humphries, J. D., Byron, A., & Humphries, M. J. (2006). Integrin ligands at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*, 119(19). https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03098
- Immler, R., Simon, S. I., & Sperandio, M. (2018a). Calcium signalling and related ion channels in neutrophil recruitment and function. In *European Journal of Clinical Investigation* (Vol. 48). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.12964
- Immler, R., Simon, S. I., & Sperandio, M. (2018b). Calcium signalling and related ion channels in neutrophil recruitment and function. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 48, e12964. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.12964
- Jones, S. W., Roberts, R. A., Robbins, G. R., Perry, J. L., Kai, M. P., Chen, K., Bo, T., Napier, M. E., Ting, J. P. Y., DeSimone, J. M., & Bear, J. E. (2013). Nanoparticle clearance is governed by Th1/Th2 immunity and strain background. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 123(7). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI66895
- Jorch, S. K., McNally, A., Berger, P., Wolf, J., Kaiser, K., Chetrusca Covash, A., Robeck, S., Pastau, I., Fehler, O., Jauch-Speer, S. L., Hermann, S., Schäfers, M., Van Gorp, H., Kanneganti, A., Dehoorne, J., Haerynck, F., Penco, F., Gattorno, M., Chae, J. J., ... Austermann, J. (2023). Complex regulation of alarmins S100A8/A9 and secretion via gasdermin D pores exacerbates autoinflammation in familial Mediterranean fever. *Journal* of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 152(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2023.01.037
- Kadry, Y. A., & Calderwood, D. A. (2020). Chapter 22: Structural and signaling functions of integrins. In *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Biomembranes* (Vol. 1862, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2020.183206
- Kaiser, R., Leunig, A., Pekayvaz, K., Popp, O., Joppich, M., Polewka, V., Escaig, R., Anjum, A., Hoffknecht, M. L., Gold, C., Brambs, S., Engel, A., Stockhausen, S., Knottenberg, V., Titova, A., Haji, M., Scherer, C., Muenchhoff, M., Hellmuth, J. C., ... Stark, K. (2021). Self-sustaining IL-8 loops drive a prothrombotic neutrophil phenotype in severe COVID-19. *JCI Insight*, 6(18). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.150862
- Keijsers, R. R. M. C., Joosten, I., van Erp, P. E. J., Koenen, H. J. P. M., & van de Kerkhof, P. C. M. (2014). Cellular sources of IL-17 in psoriasis: A paradigm shift? *Experimental Dermatology*, 23(11), 799–803. https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.12487
- Kelley, W. J., Onyskiw, P. J., Fromen, C. A., & Eniola-Adefeso, O. (2019). Model Particulate Drug Carriers Modulate Leukocyte Adhesion in Human Blood Flows. ACS Biomaterials Science and Engineering, 5(12). https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.9b01289
- Khaleel, R. A., & Zalzala, M. H. (2023). The Ameliorating Effect of Oral Paquinimod Administration against Imiquimod Induced Psoriasis-like Inflammation in Mice. *Iraqi*

Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences (P-ISSN 1683 - 3597 E-ISSN 2521 - 3512), 32(1). https://doi.org/10.31351/vol32iss1pp92-99

- Kilpatrick, L. E., Sun, S., Li, H., Vary, T. C., & Korchak, H. M. (2009). Regulation of TNFinduced oxygen radical production in human neutrophils: role of δ-PKC. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 87(1). https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0408230
- Kim, C., Ye, F., & Ginsberg, M. H. (2011). Regulation of Integrin Activation. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100109-104104
- Kolaczkowska, E., & Kubes, P. (2013). Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. In *Nature Reviews Immunology* (Vol. 13, Issue 3, pp. 159–175). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3399
- Kondo, N., Ueda, Y., & Kinashi, T. (2021). Kindlin-3 disrupts an intersubunit association in the integrin LFA1 to trigger positive feedback activation by Rap1 and talin1. *Science Signaling*, 14(686). https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.abf2184
- Kurihara, T., Jones, C. N., Yu, Y. M., Fischman, A. J., Watada, S., Tompkins, R. G., Fagan, S. P., & Irimia, D. (2013). Resolvin D2 restores neutrophil directionality and improves survival after burns. *FASEB Journal*, 27(6). https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.12-219519
- Lacy, P. (2006). Mechanisms of Degranulation in Neutrophils. *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, 2(3). https://doi.org/10.1186/1710-1492-2-3-98
- Lagarrigue, F., Kim, C., & Ginsberg, M. H. (2016). The Rap1-RIAM-talin axis of integrin activation and blood cell function. In *Blood* (Vol. 128, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-12-638700
- Lagarrigue, F., Paul, D. S., Gingras, A. R., Valadez, A. J., Sun, H., Lin, J., Cuevas, M. N., Ablack, J. N., Lopez-Ramirez, M. A., Bergmeier, W., & Ginsberg, M. H. (2020). Talin-1 is the principal platelet Rap1 effector of integrin activation. *Blood*, *136*(10). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020005348
- Lämmermann, T., & Kastenmüller, W. (2019). Concepts of GPCR-controlled navigation in the immune system. In *Immunological Reviews* (Vol. 289, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12752
- Lao, J., Xie, Z., Qin, Q., Qin, R., Li, S., & Yuan, Y. (2023). Serum LL-37 and inflammatory cytokines levels in psoriasis. *Immunity, Inflammation and Disease*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/iid3.802
- Lee, J. O., Bankston, L. A., & Robert C Liddington, M. A. A. and. (1995). Two conformations of the integrin A-domain (I-domain): a pathway for activation? *Structure*, 3(12). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0969-2126(01)00271-4
- Lewis, E. M., Sergeant, S., Ledford, B., Stull, N., Dinauer, M. C., & McPhail, L. C. (2010). Phosphorylation of p22phox on threonine 147 enhances NADPH oxidase activity by

promoting p47phox binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(5). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.030643

- Lum, A. F. H., Green, C. E., Lee, G. R., Staunton, D. E., & Simon, S. I. (2002). Dynamic regulation of LFA-1 activation and neutrophil arrest on intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) in shear flow. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(23). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M202223200
- Macdougall, I. C., Strauss, W. E., Mclaughlin, J., Li, Z., Dellanna, F., & Hertel, J. (2014). Article A Randomized Comparison of Ferumoxytol and Iron Sucrose for Treating Iron Deficiency Anemia in Patients with CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 9, 705–712. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.05320513
- Margraf, A., Germena, G., Drexler, H. C. A., Rossaint, J., Ludwig, N., Prystaj, B., Mersmann, S., Thomas, K., Block, H., Gottschlich, W., Liu, C., Krenn, P. W., Haller, H., Heitplatz, B., Zu Brickwedde, M. M., Moser, M., Vestweber, D., & Zarbock, A. (2020). The integrin-linked kinase is required for chemokine-triggered high-affinity conformation of the neutrophil b2integrin LFA-1. *Blood*, *136*(19). https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD.2020004948
- Masso-Silva, J. A., Moshensky, A., Lam, M. T. Y., Odish, M., Patel, A., Xu, L., Hansen, E., Trescott, S., Nguyen, C., Kim, R., Perofsky, K., Perera, S., Ma, L., Pham, J., Rolfsen, M., Olay, J., Shin, J., Dan, J. M., Abbott, R., ... Alexander, L. C. (2020). Increased IL-8, Neutrophil Activation Phenotypes and NETosis in Critically Ill COVID-19 Patients. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3705291
- Matsunaga, Y., Hashimoto, Y., & Ishiko, A. (2021). Stratum corneum levels of calprotectin proteins S100A8/A9 correlate with disease activity in psoriasis patients. *Journal of Dermatology*, *48*(10). https://doi.org/10.1111/1346-8138.16032
- Mayadas, T. N., & Cullere, X. (2005). Neutrophil β2 integrins: Moderators of life or death decisions. In *Trends in Immunology* (Vol. 26, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2005.05.002
- McDonald, B., Pittman, K., Menezes, G. B., Hirota, S. A., Slaba, I., Waterhouse, C. C. M., Beck, P. L., Muruve, D. A., & Kubes, P. (2010). Intravascular danger signals guide neutrophils to sites of sterile inflammation. *Science*, 330(6002). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1195491
- Mellett, L., & Khader, S. A. (2022). S100A8/A9 in COVID-19 pathogenesis: Impact on clinical outcomes. In *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews* (Vol. 63). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cytogfr.2021.10.004
- Miralda, I., Uriarte, S. M., & McLeish, K. R. (2017). Multiple phenotypic changes define neutrophil priming. In *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* (Vol. 7, Issue MAY). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00217
- Mol, S., Hafkamp, F. M. J., Varela, L., Simkhada, N., Taanman-Kueter, E. W., Tas, S. W., Wauben, M. H. M., Kormelink, T. G., & de Jong, E. C. (2021). Efficient neutrophil

activation requires two simultaneous activating stimuli. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(18). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms221810106

- Morikis, V. A., Chase, S., Wun, T., Chaikof, E. L., Magnani, J. L., & Simon, S. I. (2017). Selectin catch-bonds mechanotransduce integrin activation and neutrophil arrest on inflamed endothelium under shear flow. *Blood*, 130(19). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-05-783027
- Morikis, V. A., Chen, S. J., Madigan, J., Jo, M. H., Werba, L. C., Ha, T., & Simon, S. I. (2022). β2-Integrin Adhesive Bond Tension under Shear Stress Modulates Cytosolic Calcium Flux and Neutrophil Inflammatory Response. *Cells*, *11*(18). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11182822
- Morikis, V. A., Masadeh, E., & Simon, S. I. (2020). Tensile force transmitted through LFA-1 bonds mechanoregulate neutrophil inflammatory response. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *108*(6). https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.3A0520-100RR
- Morikis, V. A., & Simon, S. I. (2018). Neutrophil mechanosignaling promotes integrin engagement with endothelial cells and motility within inflamed vessels. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 9, Issue NOV). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02774
- Mortaz, E., Zadian, S. S., Shahir, M., Folkerts, G., Garssen, J., Mumby, S., & Adcock, I. M. (2019). Does Neutrophil Phenotype Predict the Survival of Trauma Patients? In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 10). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02122
- Moser, M., Legate, K. R., Zent, R., & Fässler, R. (2009). The tail of integrins, talin, and kindlins. In *Science* (Vol. 324, Issue 5929). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1163865
- Mueller, H., Stadtmann, A., Van Aken, H., Hirsch, E., Wang, D., Ley, K., & Zarbock, A. (2010). Tyrosine kinase Btk regulates E-selectin-mediated integrin activation and neutrophil recruitment by controlling phospholipase C (PLC) γ2 and PI3Kγ pathways. *Blood*, 115(15). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-11-254185
- Murao, A., Aziz, M., Wang, H., Brenner, M., & Wang, P. (2021). Release mechanisms of major DAMPs. In *Apoptosis* (Vol. 26, Issues 3–4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-021-01663-3
- Naumenko, V., Nikitin, A., Garanina, A., Melnikov, P., Vodopyanov, S., Kapitanova, K., Potashnikova, D., Vishnevskiy, D., Alieva, I., Ilyasov, A., Eletskaya, B. Z., Abakumov, M., Chekhonin, V., & Majouga, A. (2020). Neutrophil-mediated transport is crucial for delivery of short-circulating magnetic nanoparticles to tumors. *Acta Biomaterialia*, 104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2020.01.011
- Nguyen, G. T., Green, E. R., & Mecsas, J. (2017). Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH oxidase activation and bacterial resistance. In *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* (Vol. 7, Issue AUG). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00373
- Ni, T., Kalli, A. C., Naughton, F. B., Yates, L. A., Naneh, O., Kozorog, M., Anderluh, G., Sansom, M. S. P., & Gilbert, R. J. C. (2017). Structure and lipid-binding properties of the

kindlin-3 pleckstrin homology domain. *Biochemical Journal*, 474(4). https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160791

- Noël, C., Simard, J. C., & Girard, D. (2016). Gold nanoparticles induce apoptosis, endoplasmic reticulum stress events and cleavage of cytoskeletal proteins in human neutrophils. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2015.11.003
- Owens, D. E., & Peppas, N. A. (2006). Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. In *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* (Vol. 307, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.10.010
- Pahar, B., Madonna, S., Das, A., Albanesi, C., & Girolomoni, G. (2020). Immunomodulatory role of the antimicrobial II-37 peptide in autoimmune diseases and viral infections. In *Vaccines* (Vol. 8, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines8030517
- Pahwa, R., & Jialal, I. (2019). Chronic Inflammation StatPearls NCBI Bookshelf. In *Stat Pearls*.
- Panda, R., Castanheira, F. V. S., Schlechte, J. M., Surewaard, B. G. J., Shim, H. B., Zucoloto, A. Z., Slavikova, Z., Yipp, B. G., Kubes, P., & McDonald, B. (2022). A functionally distinct neutrophil landscape in severe COVID-19 reveals opportunities for adjunctive therapies. *JCI Insight*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.152291
- Pietrzak, A. T., Zalewska, A., Chodorowska, G., Krasowska, D., Michalak-Stoma, A., Nockowski, P., Osemlak, P., Paszkowski, T., & Roliński, J. M. (2008). Cytokines and anticytokines in psoriasis. In *Clinica Chimica Acta* (Vol. 394, Issues 1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2008.04.005
- Podaza, E., Sabbione, F., Risnik, D., Borge, M., Almejún, M. B., Colado, A., Fernández-Grecco, H., Cabrejo, M., Bezares, R. F., Trevani, A., Gamberale, R., & Giordano, M. (2017). Neutrophils from chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients exhibit an increased capacity to release extracellular traps (NETs). *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, *66*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-016-1921-7
- Pruenster, M., Immler, R., Roth, J., Kuchler, T., Bromberger, T., Napoli, M., Nussbaumer, K., Rohwedder, I., Wackerbarth, L. M., Piantoni, C., Hennis, K., Fink, D., Kallabis, S., Schroll, T., Masgrau-Alsina, S., Budke, A., Liu, W., Vestweber, D., Wahl-Schott, C., ... Sperandio, M. (2023). E-selectin-mediated rapid NLRP3 inflammasome activation regulates S100A8/S100A9 release from neutrophils via transient gasdermin D pore formation. *Nature Immunology*, 24(12), 2021–2031. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-023-01656-1
- Pruenster, M., Kurz, A. R. M., Chung, K. J., Cao-Ehlker, X., Bieber, S., Nussbaum, C. F., Bierschenk, S., Eggersmann, T. K., Rohwedder, I., Heinig, K., Immler, R., Moser, M., Koedel, U., Gran, S., McEver, R. P., Vestweber, D., Verschoor, A., Leanderson, T., Chavakis, T., ... Sperandio, M. (2015). Extracellular MRP8/14 is a regulator of β22 integrin-dependent neutrophil slow rolling and adhesion. *Nature Communications*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7915

- Pruenster, M., Vogl, T., Roth, J., & Sperandio, M. (2016). S100A8/A9: From basic science to clinical application. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2016.07.015
- Qu, J., Cheng, Y., Wu, W., Yuan, L., & Liu, X. (2021). Glycocalyx Impairment in Vascular Disease: Focus on Inflammation. In *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* (Vol. 9). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.730621
- Rose, J. J., Foley, J. F., Murphy, P. M., & Venkatesan, S. (2004). On the mechanism and significance of ligand-induced internalization of human neutrophil chemokine receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(23), 24372–24386. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M401364200
- Rousseau, L.-S., Paré, G., Lachhab, A., Naccache, P. H., Marceau, F., Tessier, P., Pelletier, M., & Fernandes, M. (2017). S100A9 potentiates the activation of neutrophils by the etiological agent of gout, monosodium urate crystals. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 102(3). https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.3ma0117-020r
- Russo, R. C., Garcia, C. C., Teixeira, M. M., & Amaral, F. A. (2014). The CXCL8/IL-8 chemokine family and its receptors in inflammatory diseases. In *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology* (Vol. 10, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1586/1744666X.2014.894886
- Schaff, U. Y., Dixit, N., Procyk, E., Yamayoshi, I., Tse, T., & Simon, S. I. (2010). Orai1 regulates intracellular calcium, arrest, and shape polarization during neutrophil recruitment in shear flow. *Blood*, 115(3). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-05-224659
- Schaff, U. Y., Xing, M. M. Q., Lin, K. K., Pan, N., Jeon, N. L., & Simon, S. I. (2007). Vascular mimetics based on microfluidics for imaging the leukocyte-endothelial inflammatory response. *Lab on a Chip*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1039/b617915k
- Schaff, U. Y., Yamayoshi, I., Tse, T., Griffin, D., Kibathi, L., & Simon, S. I. (2008). Calcium flux in neutrophils synchronizes β2 integrin adhesive and signaling events that guide inflammatory recruitment. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, *36*(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-008-9453-8
- Scott, N. R., Swanson, R. V., Al-Hammadi, N., Domingo-Gonzalez, R., Rangel-Moreno, J., Kriel, B. A., Bucsan, A. N., Das, S., Ahmed, M., Mehra, S., Treerat, P., Cruz-Lagunas, A., Jimenez-Alvarez, L., Muñoz-Torrico, M., Bobadilla-Lozoya, K., Vogl, T., Walzl, G., Du Plessis, N., Kaushal, D., ... Khader, S. A. (2020). S100A8/A9 regulates CD11b expression and neutrophil recruitment during chronic tuberculosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *130*(6). https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI130546
- Shah, A., & Dobrovolskaia, M. A. (2018). Immunological effects of iron oxide nanoparticles and iron-based complex drug formulations: Therapeutic benefits, toxicity, mechanistic insights, and translational considerations. In *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine* (Vol. 14, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2018.01.014

- Shao, S., Fang, H., Dang, E., Xue, K., Zhang, J., Li, B., Qiao, H., Cao, T., Zhuang, Y., Shen, S., Zhang, T., Qiao, P., Li, C., Gudjonsson, J. E., & Wang, G. (2019). Neutrophil extracellular traps promote inflammatory responses in psoriasis via activating epidermal TLR4/IL-36R crosstalk. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10(APR). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.00746
- Sheppard, F. R., Kelher, M. R., Moore, E. E., McLaughlin, N. J. D., Banerjee, A., & Silliman, C. C. (2005). Structural organization of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase: phosphorylation and translocation during priming and activation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 78(5). https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0804442
- Shu, X., Li, N., Huang, D., Zhang, Y., Lü, S., & Long, M. (2020). Mechanical strength determines Ca2+ transients triggered by the engagement of β2 integrins to their ligands. *Experimental Cell Research*, 387(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2019.111807
- Silvin, A., Chapuis, N., Dunsmore, G., Goubet, A. G., Dubuisson, A., Derosa, L., Almire, C., Hénon, C., Kosmider, O., Droin, N., Rameau, P., Catelain, C., Alfaro, A., Dussiau, C., Friedrich, C., Sourdeau, E., Marin, N., Szwebel, T. A., Cantin, D., ... Solary, E. (2020). Elevated Calprotectin and Abnormal Myeloid Cell Subsets Discriminate Severe from Mild COVID-19. *Cell*, 182(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.08.002
- Simon, S. I., Hu, Y., Vestweber, D., & Smith, C. W. (2000). Neutrophil Tethering on E-Selectin Activates β2 Integrin Binding to ICAM-1 Through a Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signal Transduction Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, *164*(8). https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.8.4348
- Soenen, S. J. H., Himmelreich, U., Nuytten, N., & De Cuyper, M. (2011). Cytotoxic effects of iron oxide nanoparticles and implications for safety in cell labelling. *Biomaterials*, 32(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.08.075
- Spitaler, M., & Cantrell, D. A. (2004). Protein kinase C and beyond. In *Nature Immunology* (Vol. 5, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1097
- Sreejit, G., Abdel Latif, A., Murphy, A. J., & Nagareddy, P. R. (2020). Emerging roles of neutrophil-borne S100A8/A9 in cardiovascular inflammation. In *Pharmacological Research* (Vol. 161). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105212
- Stadtmann, A., Brinkhaus, L., Mueller, H., Rossaint, J., Bolomini-Vittori, M., Bergmeier, W., Van Aken, H., Wagner, D. D., Laudanna, C., Ley, K., & Zarbock, A. (2011). Rap1a activation by CalDAG-GEFI and p38 MAPK is involved in E-selectin-dependent slow leukocyte rolling. *European Journal of Immunology*, 41(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201041196
- Sun, H., Fan, Z., Gingras, A. R., Lopez-Ramirez, M. A., Ginsberg, M. H., & Ley, K. (2019). Frontline Science: A flexible kink in the transmembrane domain impairs β2 integrin extension and cell arrest from rolling. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.1hi0219-073rr

- Sur Chowdhury, C., Giaglis, S., Walker, U. A., Buser, A., Hahn, S., & Hasler, P. (2014). Enhanced neutrophil extracellular trap generation in rheumatoid arthritis: Analysis of underlying signal transduction pathways and potential diagnostic utility. *Arthritis Research* and Therapy, 16(3). https://doi.org/10.1186/ar4579
- Szeto, G. L., & Lavik, E. B. (2016). Materials design at the interface of nanoparticles and innate immunity. In *Journal of Materials Chemistry B* (Vol. 4, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1039/c5tb01825k
- Takahashi, T., & Yamasaki, K. (2020). Psoriasis and antimicrobial peptides. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 21, Issue 18). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21186791
- Tardif, M. R., Chapeton-Montes, J. A., Posvandzic, A., Pagé, N., Gilbert, C., & Tessier, P. A. (2015). Secretion of S100A8, S100A9, and S100A12 by Neutrophils Involves Reactive Oxygen Species and Potassium Efflux. *Journal of Immunology Research*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/296149
- Teague, H. L., Varghese, N. J., Tsoi, L. C., Dey, A. K., Garshick, M. S., Silverman, J. I.,
 Baumer, Y., Harrington, C. L., Stempinski, E., Elnabawi, Y. A., Dagur, P. K., Cui, K.,
 Tunc, I., Seifuddin, F., Joshi, A. A., Stansky, E., Purmalek, M. M., Rodante, J. A., Keel, A.,
 ... Mehta, N. N. (2019). Neutrophil Subsets, Platelets, and Vascular Disease in Psoriasis. *JACC: Basic to Translational Science*, 4(1), 1–14.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacbts.2018.10.008
- Tripathi, S., Wang, G., White, M., Rynkiewicz, M., Seaton, B., & Hartshorn, K. (2015). Identifying the critical domain of LL-37 involved in mediating neutrophil activation in the presence of influenza virus: Functional and structural analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 10(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133454
- Tsai, Y.-C., & Tsai, T.-F. (2017). Anti-interleukin and interleukin therapies for psoriasis: current evidence and clinical usefulness. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease*, 9(11), 277–294. https://doi.org/10.1177/1759720X17735756
- Uotila, L. M., Harjunpää, H., & Fagerholm, S. C. (2023). β2-integrins in Immunity: New Roles for Old Players. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-23781-2_10
- Valdiglesias, V., Fernández-Bertólez, N., Kiliç, G., Costa, C., Costa, S., Fraga, S., Bessa, M. J., Pásaro, E., Teixeira, J. P., & Laffon, B. (2016). Are iron oxide nanoparticles safe? Current knowledge and future perspectives. In *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology* (Vol. 38). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2016.03.017
- Verjans, E. T., Zels, S., Luyten, W., Landuyt, B., & Schoofs, L. (2016). Molecular mechanisms of LL-37-induced receptor activation: An overview. In *Peptides* (Vol. 85). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2016.09.002
- Vogt, K. L., Summers, C., Chilvers, E. R., & Condliffe, A. M. (2018). Priming and de-priming of neutrophil responses in vitro and in vivo. In *European Journal of Clinical Investigation* (Vol. 48). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.12967

- Walker, B. A. M., & Ward, P. A. (1992). Priming and signal transduction in neutrophils. *NeuroSignals*, *1*(5). https://doi.org/10.1159/000109329
- Wang, W. M., & Jin, H. Z. (2020). Role of Neutrophils in Psoriasis. In *Journal of Immunology Research* (Vol. 2020). https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3709749
- Wen, L., Moser, M., & Ley, K. (2022). Molecular mechanisms of leukocyte β2 integrin activation. In *Blood* (Vol. 139, Issue 24). https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2021013500
- Winterbourn, C. C., Kettle, A. J., & Hampton, M. B. (2016). Reactive Oxygen Species and Neutrophil Function. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 85. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevbiochem-060815-014442
- Wright, H. L., Thomas, H. B., Moots, R. J., & Edwards, S. W. (2013). RNA-Seq Reveals Activation of Both Common and Cytokine-Specific Pathways following Neutrophil Priming. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058598
- Wu, P., Ma, G., Zhu, X., Gu, T., Zhang, J., Sun, Y., Xu, H., Huo, R., Wang, B., Shen, B., Chen, X., & Li, N. (2017). Cyr61/CCN1 is involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis vulgaris via promoting IL-8 production by keratinocytes in a JNK/NF-κB pathway. *Clinical Immunology*, 174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2016.11.003
- Wu, X., Tan, Y., Mao, H., & Zhang, M. (2010). Toxic effects of iron oxide nanoparticles on human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.2147/ijn.s10458
- Wysowski, D. K., Swartz, L., Borders-Hemphill, B. V., Goulding, M. R., & Dormitzer, C. (2010). Use of parenteral iron products and serious anaphylactic-type reactions. *American Journal of Hematology*, 85(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.21794
- Xu, X., & Jin, T. (2015). The novel functions of the PLC/PKC/PKD signaling axis in G proteincoupled receptor-mediated chemotaxis of neutrophils. In *Journal of Immunology Research* (Vol. 2015). https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/817604
- Yago, T., Zhang, N., Zhao, L., Abrams, C. S., & McEver, R. P. (2018). Selectins and chemokines use shared and distinct signals to activate β2 integrins in neutrophils. *Blood Advances*, 2(7). https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2017015602
- Yamanaka, K., Umezawa, Y., Yamagiwa, A., Saeki, H., Kondo, M., Gabazza, E. C., Nakagawa, H., & Mizutani, H. (2014). Biologic therapy improves psoriasis by decreasing the activity of monocytes and neutrophils. *Journal of Dermatology*, 41(8). https://doi.org/10.1111/1346-8138.12560
- Yan, S. R., Fumagalli, L., Dusi, S., & Berton, G. (1995). Tumor necrosis factor triggers redistribution to a Triton X-100-insoluble, cytoskeletal fraction of β2 integrins, NADPH oxidase components, tyrosine phosphorylated proteins, and the protein tyrosine kinase p58(fgr) in human neutrophils adherent to fibrinogen. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 58(5). https://doi.org/10.1002/jlb.58.5.595

- Yang, J., Zhu, L., Zhang, H., Hirbawi, J., Fukuda, K., Dwivedi, P., Liu, J., Byzova, T., Plow, E. F., Wu, J., & Qin, J. (2014). Conformational activation of talin by RIAM triggers integrinmediated cell adhesion. *Nature Communications*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6880
- Ye, F., & Petrich, B. G. (2011). Kindlin: Helper, co-activator, or booster of talin in integrin activation? In *Current Opinion in Hematology* (Vol. 18, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1097/MOH.0b013e3283497f09
- Zarbock, A., Abram, C. L., Hundt, M., Altman, A., Lowell, C. A., & Ley, K. (2008). PSGL-1 engagement by E-selectin signals through Src kinase Fgr and ITAM adapters DAP12 and FcRγ to induce slow leukocyte rolling. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 205(10), 2339– 2347. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20072660/VIDEO-1
- Zeng, M. Y., Miralda, I., Armstrong, C. L., Uriarte, S. M., & Bagaitkar, J. (2019). The roles of NADPH oxidase in modulating neutrophil effector responses. In *Molecular Oral Microbiology* (Vol. 34, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1111/omi.12252
- Zhang, Z., Cherryholmes, G., Chang, F., Rose, D. M., Schraufstatter, I., & Shively, J. E. (2009). Evidence that cathelicidin peptide LL-37 may act as a functional ligand for CXCR2 on human neutrophils. *European Journal of Immunology*, 39(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200939496
- Zhou, F., Zhang, F., Zarnitsyna, V. I., Doudy, L., Yuan, Z., Li, K., McEver, R. P., Lu, H., & Zhu, C. (2021). The kinetics of E-selectin- And P-selectin-induced intermediate activation of integrin αlβ2 on neutrophils. *Journal of Cell Science*, 134(18). https://doi.org/10.1242/JCS.258046/VIDEO-1
- Zhu, L., & He, P. (2006). fMLP-stimulated release of reactive oxygen species from adherent leukocytes increases microvessel permeability. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 290(1). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00812.2005
- Zindel, J., & Kubes, P. (2020). DAMPs, PAMPs, and LAMPs in Immunity and Sterile Inflammation. In *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease* (Vol. 15). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-012419-032847